

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

12-5-2023

Leadership Strategies to Implement an Effective Remote Working Program

Carter Lewis
Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Carter Lewis

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Ronald Black, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Gwendolyn Dooley, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Leadership Strategies to Implement an Effective Remote Working Program

by

Carter Lewis

MBA, Nova Southeastern University, 2018

BS, Palm Beach State College, 2016

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

November 2023

Abstract

Leaders experience higher productivity and lower turnover due to implementing an effective remote working program. The need for leaders to understand their role in productive remote working is critical to program success. Grounded in the organizational leadership theory, the purpose of this single qualitative case study was to explore strategies financial leaders use to implement an effective remote working program. The participants were three leaders of a major financial services corporation in Florida, USA. Data were collected using semi-structured interviews and company documents, and three themes emerged from a thematic analysis: leadership strategies and styles, management of remote workers, and the benefits and drawbacks of remote working. A key recommendation for financial leaders is to dedicate training and development for frontline managers to avoid using a micromanagement approach to manage the remote staff. The implication for positive social change includes the potential to remove barriers to gaining employment for individuals residing in underserved areas.

Leadership Strategies to Implement an Effective Remote Working Program

by

Carter Lewis

MBA, Nova Southeastern University, 2018

BS, Palm Beach State College, 2016

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

November 2023

Dedication

I dedicate this research study to God, with whom I do all things and who strengthens me. I also dedicate this study to my loving and supporting wife, Octavia Lewis. She has been my rock when things got shaky. She was the support when I wanted to break down. She believed in me when I was doubting myself. She pushed me to excellence and loved me when I struggled. I also want to dedicate this to my children, CJ, Nysha, Sarah, and Kyle, who cheered for me every step of the way. I also want to thank my Walden family, especially my chair, Dr. Ronald Black, who was instrumental in guiding and supporting me throughout this journey. I also want to thank all my friends that encouraged me to keep going and celebrated my milestones. I would like to dedicate special dedication to my brother, Greg, who unfortunately passed during this journey, but I know he is celebrating from heaven.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank the participants of this study that helped in making this possible. I would also like to thank my chair, Dr. Ronald Black, and my committee members, which gave me the guidance and support I need to complete this study.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	V
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	1
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	2
	Research Question	3
	Interview Questions	3
	Conceptual Framework	4
	Operational Definitions	5
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
	Assumptions	6
	Limitations	6
	Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	7
	Contribution to Business Practice	7
	Implications for Social Change	7
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	8
	Literature Opening Narrative	8
	Literature Review Search	8
	Leadership Concepts	9

Transformational Leadership	14
Leadership Support to the Research	17
Remote Employee Performance	19
Performance Indicators	22
Remote Employee Job Satisfaction	24
Remote Employee Engagement	26
Remote Employee Turnover Rate	29
Diversity Team Management	31
Current Issues or Dilemmas	33
Social Change	36
Transition	38
Section 2: The Project	40
Purpose Statement	40
Role of the Researcher	40
Participants	41
Research Method and Design	42
Research Method	42
Research Design	43
Population and Sampling	44
Ethical Research	45
Data Collection Instruments	46
Data Collection Technique	47

Data Organization Technique	48
Data Analysis	49
Reliability and Validity	51
Reliability	51
Dependability	52
Validity	53
Creditability	53
Conformability	54
Transferability	54
Transition and Summary	55
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Chang	ge56
Introduction	56
Presentation of the Findings	56
Data Analysis	57
Theme 1: Leadership Strategies and Styles	59
Theme 2: Management of Remote Workers	60
Theme 3: Benefits and Drawbacks to Remote Working	64
Application to Professional Practice	66
Implications for Positive Social Change	67
Recommendations for Action	68
Recommendations for Further Research	68
	69

Conclusion	70
References	71
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	88
Appendix B: Interview Ouestions	89

List of Tables

Table	1	Literature	Review	Sources	Count	C
1 autc	1.	Literature	ICCVICW	Sources	Coult	J

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Background of the Problem

Remote working, also known as teleworking or flexible working, is work performed from home using technology (Chiru, 2017). Remote working was first introduced in the 1970s by Jack Nilles to help traffic congestion and pollution (Narayanan et al., 2017). Companies used remote working during the oil crisis of the late 1970s (Torten et al., 2016). Remote working gained tremendous growth in the 1990s, increasing over 200% from 1992 to 2002 (Smith et al., 2018). In 2020, the global pandemic caused companies to move to remote working for non-essential employees.

From March 13, 2020, to April 2, 2020, the percentage of remote workers increased from 33% to 61% (Graves & Karabayeva, 2020). Workers can perform the work at any location using technology to connect and complete their tasks. Not everyone is a good fit to work remotely. Wong (2020) reported that approximately 51% could successfully work remotely. This statistic is not valid for every company and every position. Still, companies should be cautious to ensure the employee has the best qualities to perform well outside of the office. There are many positive and negative benefits for the employee to work remotely. There are also positive and negative benefits for the employer to allow employees to work remotely. Leaders need to possess the strategies to implement an effective remote working program.

Problem Statement

Some supervisors of remote workers may have a negative attitude toward the success and productivity of a remote working program (Lembrechts, 2018). Remote

working increased more than 87% in 2020 due to the pandemic, and there will be approximately 36 million remote workers in the United States by 2025 (Courtney, 2020). The general business problem is that companies are negatively affected by ineffective remote working programs, which results in increased turnover, poor employee engagement, and low job satisfaction. The specific business problem is that some leaders lack leadership strategies to implement an effective remote working program.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this single qualitative case study was to explore the leadership strategies that leaders use to implement an effective remote working program. The sample was three leaders of a major corporation within the financial services industry who have an effective remote working program in Florida. The results of this study may contribute to social change by helping to improve the economic situation of undeserved areas by hiring remote workers from those areas. These households will have a financial increase that they can use in their local communities.

Nature of the Study

I used the qualitative methodology for this study. There are three methods: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Saunders et al., 2015). A qualitative methodology provides more in-depth knowledge of how or why a phenomenon occurs (Yin, 2018). A qualitative method is appropriate because the study explores how and why leaders use leadership strategies to implement an effective remote working program. Researchers use a quantitative method to evaluate the relationship between variables

(Saunders et al., 2015). The quantitative method was not appropriate because the intent was not to evaluate the relationship between variables.

I selected a single case study design to explore leaders' leadership strategies to implement effective remote working programs. Some design options include phenomenological, ethnography, and case study (Saunders et al., 2015). The single case study research design is used to study the phenomenon in a real-world setting (Yin, 2018). A single case study design is appropriate to examine the phenomenon among three leaders because the phenomenon was explored in a real-world setting. A phenomenological design explores the participant's lived experiences with the phenomenon (Saunders et al., 2015). An ethnography design focuses on the participant's specific culture regarding the phenomenon (Saunders et al., 2015). A phenomenological and ethnography design would not be appropriate for this study because the specific intent was to explore strategies leaders use to implement an effective remote working program, not a specific experience or culture.

Research Question

What leadership strategies do leaders use to implement effective remote working programs?

Interview Questions

The following are the research questions used in the study.

1. What specific leadership strategies do you use to implement an effective remote working program?

- 2. What leadership strategies do you feel have the greatest impact on improving the remote working program?
- 3. What leadership style works best with the strategies to improve the remote working program?
- 4. Have the leadership strategies improved the overall performance of the remote workers? Please explain your answer.
- 5. What would you consider to be the least effective leadership strategies to improve the effectiveness of a remote working program?
- 6. What leadership strategies did you use regarding front-line managers of the remote workers?
- 7. What results have you seen after implementing the remote working program?
- 8. What impact, if any, did the pandemic have on your strategies with the remote working program?
- 9. What other information do you wish to share?

Conceptual Framework

The organizational leadership theory (OLT) is the conceptual framework used for this study. The OLT was developed in 1956 by Robert Kahn (Kahn, 1986). A researcher selects OLT to describe individual behaviors within organizations that are a result of leadership. These behaviors include solidarity based on the mission statement, values and beliefs, and organizational preferment (Kahn, 1986). The presence of rewards or penalties also helps motivate employees of the organization (Kahn, 1986). A key component of OLT is interdependence within the organization, based on how individuals or teams

relate or work. This theory relates to how remote workgroups are managed and engaged as part of the organization since they work remotely. Organizational leadership is needed to manage remote workers effectively, and it is up to the business leaders to implement ways to engage and manage them.

Operational Definitions

Engagement: Engagement is the rewarding and positive state of mind resulting from the perception that an employee's supervisor supports their personal work goals (Masuda et al., 2017).

Job satisfaction: Job satisfaction measures how happy or content an employee is in their job (Smith et al., 2018). Smith et al. (2018) further defined it as the relationship an employee has with their position based on human resources elements and organizational environment.

Laissez-faire: A leadership style centered around the idea that employees do not require any oversight and they can make decisions on their own based on the training and guidance from the leadership (Ahmed et al., 2021).

Remote working: Remote working is performing full-time work at a location other than the usual workplace (Eddleston & Mulki, 2017; Smith et al., 2018).

Remote e-working: Remote e-working is generally a term used in Europe to describe a very mobile remote worker that uses technology to access from anywhere (Charalampous et al., 2018).

Telecommuting: Telecommuting is working in a remote location and uses technology to "commute" to perform the duties (Narayanan et al., 2017).

Teleworking: Teleworking is used to identify an employee that works remotely part-time and works in the office the rest of the week (Eddleston & Mulki, 2017).

Work-life balance: Work-life balance is balancing satisfaction and functioning between work and home that does not have conflicting roles (Felstead & Henseke, 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

It is essential to identify and justify the assumptions needed for the study's research design to test a particular theory (Armstrong & Keppler, 2018). Assumptions are things people believe to be true but cannot verify (Armstrong & Keppler, 2018). There are three assumptions in this study. The first assumption is that the participants in this study had the knowledge and experience to answer the interview questions. The second assumption is that the participants would provide open and honest responses to the interview questions. The third assumption is that the participants in this study were not biased when responding to the interview questions.

Limitations

Limitations are helpful to understand the research finding, translate the possible errors, assist in the credibility, and place the study into context (Ioannidis, 2007).

Limitations are things that are out of the researcher's control (Ioannidis, 2007). Remote working agreements can be either formal or informal. The first limitation is all remote working arrangements were considered equally. The second limitation is no emphasis was placed on the type of remote working agreement established.

Delimitations

Delimitations constrict the scope of the study into a manageable size and help establish what the study will not do (Ellis & Levy, 2009). There are three delimitations in this study. The first delimitation is I only used participants that are business leaders for this study. The second delimitation is only leaders from one industry were included in this study. The third delimitation is that I only used companies who operate in Florida in this study.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Remote workers need to have increased performance, increased job satisfaction, and lower turnover rates (De Menezes & Kelliher, 2017). Remote workers reported increased job satisfaction, which has led to increased performance. Remote workers with high job satisfaction are at a lower risk of leaving their jobs. With additional employees desiring to have the ability to work remotely at least a few days a week, leaders need to understand the types of remote working agreements and the ways to implement these into the company. Implementing a remote working program will improve the production rate and reduce the turnover rate. The results of this study may provide leaders with strategies to implement a remote working program.

Implications for Social Change

Social change is ideas, strategies, and actions that promote the wealth, dignity, and development of a culture or society's communities, organizations, and individuals (Walden, 2019). Remote working programs allow companies to hire workers from areas

that are not around an office. Hiring remote workers from underserved areas will help to improve those areas' economic situation. An example would be hiring customer service workers in India. The income that workers in India earn would support the needs in India to increase the local economy through the purchase of goods and services.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Literature Opening Narrative

The purpose of this single qualitative case study was to explore the leadership strategies that leaders use to implement an effective remote working program. An effective remote working program will allow the company to reduce employee turnover and increase productivity by increasing employee job satisfaction. I will cover remote employee performance, engagement, job satisfaction, and the turnover rate in this literature review. I will cover leadership concepts and transformational leadership in this literature review with the relevance of the literature to the phenomenon. This literature review will include leadership topics, transformational leadership, leadership support to research, remote employee performance, performance indicators, remote employee job satisfaction, remote employee engagement, remote employee turnover rate, diversity team management, and social change.

Literature Review Search

To search for the literature in this study, I utilized the Walden University Library, Google Scholar, and Scholar Works. The keywords used in the database searches included: remote working, teleworking, virtual working, flexible working, distance working, telecommuting, transformational leadership, gift exchange theory, management

exchange theory, social exchange theory, social change, job satisfaction, engagement, production performance, performance indicators, and turnover. The databases utilized were ABI/Inform, EBSCO, Emerald Insight, ProQuest, ScholarWorks, and Sage Journals. I used a total of 111 sources in this study, which included 98 peer-reviewed sources and 13 from other sources. Table 1 reflects the breakdown of the sources.

Table 1

Literature Review Sources Count

Literature type	Current sources (1-5 Years)	Older sources (Over 5 years)	Total sources	Percent	
Peer-reviewed journals	66	32	98	88%	
Other sources	12	1	13	12%	
Total and percent	78	33	111	100%	

Leadership Concepts

Social Exchange Theory

Social exchange theory originated in the 1920s and 1930s based on the work of Bronislaw Malinowski. Still, the title of "father of social exchange" goes to George Homans based on his work in the 1960s (Muldoon et al., 2018). The social exchange theory was initially established to offer a safe environment for workers to work in exchange for their labors (Chernyak-Hai & Rabenu, 2018). Wage discount for remote workers has fallen from 30% in 1980 to 0% in 2000 (Bloom et al., 2015). There has been a shift from an industrial approach to a psychological approach (Chernyak-Hai & Rabenu, 2018).

The social exchange theory refers to the tangible and intangible exchanges and mutual relationships between the remote worker and the company (Caillier, 2018; De Menezes & Kelliher, 2017). Calllier (2018) states that the social exchange for remote working gives the employee the allowance of working from home. The employee feels they have to repay that allowance by behaving and performing to help the company reach its goals. In this instance, the employee feels obligated to perform in exchange for working from home (De Menezes & Kelliher, 2017; Lee & Kim, 2018). This obligation is what leads to increased performance and production. The remote workers also feel that they will secure their opportunity to continue working remotely by increasing production. The remote workers fear losing their opportunity to work remotely if their performance does not meet the manager's or company's expectations. In a recent study of IT remote workers in India, the researchers found that management negotiated a deal with the employees to work from home in exchange for more intensified work than in the office (Bathini & Kandathil, 2019). Intensified work included working irregular and long hours. Irregular hours are the overnight shift because companies in the United States were conducting business, and the firms performed most of the work for these US companies. Often the IT teleworkers would have to work 12-hour shifts (Bathini & Kandathil, 2019). These conditions were understood and agreed upon for the allowance to work from home.

Gift Exchange Theory

The history of gift exchange goes back to modern cultures of monetary exchange. Gifts were given as a form of payment or appreciation but did not explicitly expect to be repaid (Duffy & Puzzello, 2014). Duffy and Puzzello (2014) continued to explain that

there was a social understanding that the gift receiver would repay the gift giver somehow, even if through another person. The modern gift exchange theory originated in 1925 by Marcel Mauss (Heins et al., 2018). Heins et al. (2018) define gift-giving as transferring something of social value to another without guaranteeing that there will be reciprocity. This definition would alter the idea of a gift. However, in many cultures, it is common to return the gift-giving with a similar valued item. Heins et al. (2018) further stated that Mauss identified exchanging gifts and certain reciprocity between the giver and the receiver.

Matthews (2017) performed a qualitative study regarding gift-giving and reciprocity. The act of the gift exchange creates a bond between the giver and receiver, and the receiver is "indebted" to the giver (Matthews, 2017). This exchange also creates a level of trust between two parties that the receiver will do a "favor" for the giver in the future. While there is no formal agreement to this relationship, the understanding is part of the social expectations and norms (Matthews, 2017). The receiver has the option to reject the gift, thereby declining the relationship. However, if the gift is accepted, the receiver has also agreed to the relationship with the giver. While the gift does not have a formal expectation of reciprocity, failure to reciprocate the gesture will create a sense of untrustworthiness. It will likely end any future gifts from the giver (Matthews, 2017).

In another study done by Moldovan and Van de Walle (2013), the authors describe how gifts could be bribes. The authors detailed patient-doctor relationships in Romania and how patients felt they could not receive the level of care they needed unless a family member provided a gift of value to the doctor (Moldovan & Van de Walle,

2013). Neither party initiated this relationship, but it seemed to be an expectation in this culture since healthcare was provided free as part of the health insurance they paid. In this example, the gifts were a bribe as the relationship was not built on trust but necessity. The patient needed the doctor more than the doctor needed the patient. That is why the relationship is the most important part of the gift exchange theory.

In relation to the workplace, Akerlof (1982) stated that gifts were anything above wages that an employee could not get if they left their current company; this provided a sense of commitment to the company from the employee, which helped the employee retention. Gifts can come in many forms. A company may give tickets to a local sporting event or merchandise like shirts from the sports teams. If the gifts resulted from good performance, the worker would continue the work performance or improve on it to ensure they get the gifts in the future. De Menezes & Kelliher (2017) connected remote working as a gift the manager or company gave to the employee. They were obligated to repay that gift with increased production and performance towards the common goals. Due to the recent pandemic, companies offered remote working as a necessity (Graves & Karabayeva, 2020). The employees did not have a choice. They could either work remotely or get laid off. This scenario changes the dynamics of the gift of allowing the employee to work remotely. One study raises the question of the employees' rights to negotiate any terms that have been considered (Belzunegui-Eraso & Erro-Garcés, 2020). After the pandemic, remote working might end. In a recent poll, about 65% of remote workers will want to continue working remotely (Tanzi, 2020). Remote workers might need to have increased performance to show the company they can still perform while

working from home, and the company might recognize that and allow them to continue to work from home. The remote workers will have the opportunity to negotiate the terms of the working relationship or if they choose to decline it entirely.

Management Control Theory

The management control theory originated in 1965 by Robert Anthony (Hewage, 2012). Management control was the level between strategic planning and operational control. The contributions of this theory were the accounting measure and responsibility placed on worker performance (Hewage, 2012). Managers had to control the performance behaviors of the workers. Management control is defined as the controls that management utilizes to monitor the organization's progress towards the established goals and identify if and how to meet the goals and make necessary adjustments (Gutenberg, 1964). In many cases, the managers ensured employee attendance remained high by visually verifying the employees were working. Managers monitored employee behaviors to keep them on task and productive.

With the growth of remote working, managers could not control the performance behaviors of the remote workers (Groen et al., 2018). Groen et al. (2018) stated that management had to emphasize output controls rather than behaviors. This shift created an environment where the remote worker was responsible for a specified amount of production to ensure the organization reached its goals. The remote worker then knew what to expect regarding production and focused on achieving that requirement. System administrators used computer programs to monitor the progress. Managers use this information to institute corrective actions to get the organization back on track to

reaching the goals if they seem to deviate from the projections (Groen et al., 2018).

Managers wrote control measures for remote workers compared to verbal ones for traditional workers. The defined expectations made it easier for remote workers to know if they were meeting the production expectations.

Ruiller et al. (2019) conducted a study with 22 remote workers and supervisors of an IT company in France. The purpose of the study was to determine the impact that leadership has on the perceived proximity of remote working teams. Ruiller et al. (2019) define perceived proximity as the perception of how far or near a person is. This distance is affected by the communication and technology used to connect as well as face-to-face interactions. The leader of one of the remote working teams was praised for their contribution and efforts to make the team an organized and cohesive group (Ruiller et al., 2019). The authors concluded that the success of a remote working arrangement depends on sound leadership (Ruiller et al., 2019). The need for leaders to understand the importance of their role in remote working is critical to its success.

Transformational Leadership

Leadership is critically important to the success of a remote working program. In a survey of 7,200 employees who voluntarily separated from their companies, about half of them decided to leave due to a bad manager (Gandolfi & Stone, 2018). Leaders should tap into the motives of followers to meet the goals of both leaders and followers (Latham, 2015). Transformational leadership can help move employees to exceed production goals, improve job satisfaction, and commitment to the organization (Bass & Riggio, 2006). Transformational leadership originated in 1978 by James MacGregor Burns (Bass &

Riggio, 2006). Some of the benefits of transformational leadership include empowering employees and aligning their goals to management and the organization (Bass & Riggio, 2006). Transformational leaders can motivate these employees to succeed in a remote working environment. As is the case where not every leader is the same, employees are also not the same.

Transformational leadership is the most influential leadership style researched (Lee et al., 2020). Transformational leadership theory suggests that leaders possess the ability to motivate followers by being a good example, focusing on the goals of the organization, show care and concern for the followers, and develop the followers to think outside the box (Urick, 2020). These traits are a dramatic shift from previous leadership theories. Four sub-dimensions can describe transformational leadership theory. These dimensions are:

- 1. Idealized influence the leader is seen as a role model for their followers
- Inspirational motivation effective communication to deliver an attractive vision that promotes team spirit and optimism
- Intellectual stimulation the leader questions assumptions to promote innovation and creative problem solving
- 4. Individualized consideration identifying the needs of the followers and acting as a mentor or coach for their development (Jensen et al., 2020).

When the leader has a transformational leadership style, lower levels of management emulate this style, which will dramatically affect the organization's overall productivity. Recent studies have shown a positive relationship between transformational

leadership and performance indicators (Jensen et al., 2020). Jensen et al. (2020) described these indicators as employee perception of leadership, the leader's job performance, sales performance, and profits.

Idealized influence involves the leader providing a clear mission and values, and beliefs to the organization (Jensen et al., 2020). The leaders will also act as role models and provide clear communication of the expectations. Inspirational motivation involves presenting challenging expectations, exhibiting strong organizational commitment, and give meaning to the employees (Jensen et al., 2020). This motivation will help drive the individuals to achieve high-performance levels to allow the organization to reach its collective goals. Leaders also have to utilize intellectual stimulation to promote innovation within the company by questioning the assumptions and finding creative ways to solve complex problems that will help improve company performance (Jensen et al., 2020). Individualized consideration involves the leader paying attention to the employees' needs and encouraging individual growth and development (Jensen et al., 2020).

Based on the study results conducted by Jensen et al. (2020), intellectual stimulation and inspirational motivation had the most substantial positive effect on organizational performance. These dimensions will have a direct correlation to the current increase in remote working. The remote workers will feel comfortable providing suggestions on improving the remote working program, and they will have clear communications regarding the performance expectations. The study results showed that leaders who scored high had responses indicating their support and motivation of the teams and pushing them to reach high, manageable goals (Jensen et al., 2020). Also,

providing the company mission and values helps the employees to support the organization and push to exceed performance expectations.

The recent pandemic has brought a significant change to the way work is done in most companies. Companies have had to make difficult decisions and implement far-reaching changes that affect the majority of the employees. Accepting change does not come naturally to most workers. Transformational leadership style is the best leadership style during and after the pandemic (Sukoco et al., 2020). Sukoco (2020) states that the pandemic has caused additional employee concerns not related to the work or their jobs but family needs and additional responsibilities. A transformational leader can look beyond the transactional aspect of the employee and view them as a person with needs that require attention outside of the company's work. Making adjustments or accommodations to their schedule or expectations is what a transformational leader does to strengthen the employee's loyalty and help avoid rising turnover rates (Sukoco, 2020). Transformational leaders will ensure they engage with the employees to keep them motivated and show they are concerned about their well-being and not just profits.

Leadership Support to the Research

Management needs to be selective when choosing employees to work remotely. Following a study of call center employees, the company changed those allowed to work at home and those required to work in the office (Bloom et al., 2015). The production rate increased from a 13% improvement from the study to 22% after the post-study period. Managers need to focus more on the employee's output (Groen et al., 2018; Walker, 2018). Remote working is not suited for every employee, and management needs to

determine who would be best fitted to work remotely (Dunn, 2018; Groen et al., 2018; Hunter, 2019; Walker, 2018). In a recent study of 191 managers at US Universities, managers have assessed the trustworthiness of each employee's ability to handle working remotely successfully (Kaplan et al., 2018). Managers may only allow their best employees the opportunity to work remotely. With this frame of mind, the performance of the remote employee would not decrease given the employee's high performance and the expectation to perform to retain the ability to work remotely. This scenario is the best example of the gift-exchange theory of leadership.

Leadership must be fully committed to remote working to help ensure success (Kwon & Jeon, 2020). Remote working has been around for decades, but it has only recently become more popular and accepted in the workplace. Some leaders still have the old-school way of thinking that employees are not working unless management can physically watch them. When these leaders enter into an environment of remote working, they can negatively affect the program's success. Remote working requires careful managing to ensure the program's benefits are not diminished (Hunter, 2019). One of the benefits of remote working is increased production and quality from increased employee autonomy (Giovanis, 2018). When managers do not trust the remote workers, they exhibit an increased level of control that results in a lower perceived autonomy (Delanoeije & Verbruggen, 2020). Lower autonomy results in a reduction of production rather than an increase.

Due to the recent pandemic, companies required their workforce to work remotely without having the luxury of choosing who is best suited to work from home. This

change has caused leaders to make quick adjustments to their way of thinking about remote working. Leaders of remote workers need to have a different mindset and approach when dealing with these remote workers. For that reason, these leaders are skilled in e-leadership or electronic leadership (Contreras et al., 2020). E-leadership is developing distinct abilities to improve organizational functions in a virtual team setting. The skills that leaders have in a face-to-face environment may not be adequate when dealing with remote workers. Communication in multiple platforms is crucial, especially in digital media like videoconferencing and virtual communications (Contreras et al., 2020). Technology plays a vital role in the leader's ability to communicate with the virtual teams, and a lack of this ability will be detrimental to the success and productivity of the team.

Remote Employee Performance

One of management's concerns regarding remote working is whether the production will suffer if they cannot physically monitor the employees. Remote workers believe they can have higher production than working in the office. Based on a recent study, 91% of remote workers surveyed stated they feel more productive outside of the office (Elshaiekh et al., 2018). Many factors contribute to this, such as reducing commute time, improved work-life balance, and more productive time. In a survey conducted with 2,617 across four organizations in the United Kingdom, the authors found a positive correlation between remote working and job performance (De Menezes & Kelliher, 2017).

Commuting to the office is a very time-consuming activity. In a survey conducted in Japan with 9200 regular teleworking employees, there was an increase in production with teleworking employees compared to non-teleworking employees (Kazekami, 2020). In some urban areas, commuting to work can take over one hour, including getting ready for work, driving or transportation, parking, and getting to their workstation. Remote workers do not have to deal with the commute, parking, traffic, accidents, or the prep time of getting ready for work (Elshaiekh et al., 2018; Radu, 2018). This time saved can be used as productive time spent. Not dealing with traffic or accidents also helps the remote worker have a positive mindset when starting work rather than being frustrated with traffic. Commuting by carpool, bus, or train can also be stressful. Avoiding rush hour commuting, whether by automobile, bus, or train, can increase productivity for remote workers (Kazekami, 2020). Employees that telework avoid mental stress and start their day in a better mental state of mind. They also save the time they would be commuting to either start their day or other positive activities that will help promote productivity at work.

Eliminating commute time is not the only way remote working helps to increase the productive time. Remote workers have less distraction from co-workers and have less non-productive time (Golden & Gajendran, 2018; Kazekami, 2020). A recent survey of 1,004 full-time employees revealed that remote workers have less unproductive time and work an average of 1.4 days more per month than in-office workers (Schwantes, 2019). In a study conducted with two call center groups for nine months with one group working remotely and one group working in the office, the authors found that production

improved by the remote working group and no improvement by the in-office group (Bloom et al., 2015). Remote workers are also less likely to call in sick. In a 2012 survey, the results revealed that 56% of employers decreased the number of absences (Elshaiekh et al., 2018). Remote workers have more productive time and less non-productive time than in-office workers. This production will help the company have a higher production rate while reducing costs associated with office space employees.

The work environment also plays a part in remote working productivity. In a recent study, Golden and Gajendran (2018) considered the effects of the environment on remote working compared to traditional working. They collected data from 273 remote working employees from one organization along with their supervisors. The respondents remote worked a minimum of 2 days per week and held varying difficulty levels in their work. The results showed a positive relationship between remote working and job performance (Golden & Gajendran, 2018). The authors also concluded that job performance increases in the remote setting with a higher degree of complexity. Remote workers can alter their work to maximize production due to the work environment they have at home (Delanoeije & Verbruggen, 2020; Golden & Gajendran, 2018).

Work-life balance has become an important point for employees. Many employees complain that they do not get enough time to spend with their families.

Remote workers who work from home spend more time with their families than in the office every day. Employers consider remote working as a win-win scenario because the employees have a higher job satisfaction due to a better work-life balance, which results

in higher productivity for the company with reduced overhead costs (Felstead & Henseke, 2017; Wheatley, 2017).

Performance Indicators

Performance measures help the organization reach its goals by aligning the daily activities to strategic objectives (Parmenter, 2010). Performance equates to an actual figure like sales volume, call volume, close ratio, etc. For positions that do not have an actual figure, performance can be more challenging to identify. In many cases, attendance is usually one of the best indicators for performance in a traditional setting. In a remote setting, attendance takes on a different look as the manager cannot just look out and see the workers. Some managers do not feel comfortable not being able to see the workers. One of the reasons managers do not support teleworking is that they do not trust the employees to perform as they would if the manager was present (Delanoeije & Verbruggen, 2020; Kaplan et al., 2018). Some managers feel that employees will not be able to stay on task if the employees are unsupervised. This performance issue will prevent the employees from meeting business deadlines.

Productivity is the ratio between the output generated per unit of input (Drumea, 2020). Defining inputs and outputs can sometimes be difficult, and managers need to ensure clarifications and expectations when setting production goals with remote workers. Productivity does not equate to performance, but some managers make this connection (Drumea, 2020).

In 1996, the Austrian government published a manual measuring performance using key performance indicators (KPI). KPIs are a set of measures that focus on what

the organization deems most critical for the company's short- and long-term success (Parmenter, 2010). There are seven characteristics of KPIs. These include:

- 1. Nonfinancial measures,
- 2. Frequently measured,
- 3. Acted on by the CEO and senior management
- 4. Indicate what action is required for staff,
- 5. Measures that are the responsibility of a team
- 6. Have a significant impact
- 7. They encourage appropriate action

KPIs are monitored hourly, daily, or weekly. If the KPI is monitored any less frequently, it is not considered a KPI. KPIs should also not have any financial tag to them like dollars. Having this tag would make it a key result indicator and not a KPI. KPIs will be assigned throughout the organization but should be on the specific work groups. For example, the leader's KPIs would not be the same as a staff's KPI. Also, the leader should be able to tie a KPI to a team and have a team lead do action on the KPI. The KPIs should also be directly linked to the organization's goals and significantly impact these goals (Parmenter, 2010).

Designing the KPIs for the organization requires careful planning and execution.

Design failures happen when too many or too few KPIs are defined and when the KPIs do not align with the company's overall strategy (Purevsuren et al., 2020). If there are too few KPIs will lead to an imbalance and not achieving the desired outcomes toward the company's objectives. If there are too many, the KPIs that will achieve the desired results

are overlooked due to the number of non-essential KPIs reported. The other concern is if the business unit KPIs are not aligned with the organization's strategy. This misalignment will result in the company not achieving the results because the business units were not focusing on the daily activities that would help to get the company to reach its goals.

Remote Employee Job Satisfaction

Job satisfaction refers to employees' reactions regarding how the job affects them and makes them feel (Lee & Kim, 2018). Job satisfaction is difficult to quantify, but it has an impact on both production and retention. In a survey conducted with 2,617 across four organizations in the United Kingdom, the authors found a positive correlation between remote working and job satisfaction (De Menezes & Kelliher, 2017). In a study conducted with two call center groups for nine months with one group working remotely and one group working in the office, the authors found that job satisfaction improved by the remote working group and no improvement by the in-office group (Bloom et al., 2015). Management plays a critical role in the level of job satisfaction of remote workers.

Remote working involves working outside of the office, which has some positive benefits. Remote working removes some of the negative aspects of office work, like politics, sexism, harassment, and unwanted interruptions, which leads to increased job satisfaction (Collins et al., 2016). As the number of remote workers increases, employee positive emotions increase (Charalampous et al., 2018). While these office distractions are removed, remote workers need to feel that management supports them. Remote working allows the employees freedom and autonomy, which leads to increased job

satisfaction (Charalampous et al., 2018; Delanoeije et al., 2019; De Menezes & Kelliher, 2017; Elshaiekh et al., 2018).

Remote workers also need support from their colleagues. Job satisfaction is related to social support in those remote workers that had a high level of social support from colleagues who had a higher level of job satisfaction (Charalampous et al., 2018; Collins et al., 2016). Support from management and colleagues happens by way of engagement. In a study of 28 organizations in New Zealand, 804 remote workers participated regarding social support of the remote working program and the correlation to job satisfaction (Bentley, 2016). Organizations that provided social support to remote workers had higher job satisfaction.

Remote working satisfaction occurs by reducing conflicts that arise from work-to-home conflicts and home-to-work conflicts (Delanoeije et al., 2019, Bhattacharya & Mittal, 2020). Work-to-home conflicts reduce because the employee is at home to handle any pressing concerns during the workday (Nakrošienė et al., 2019). Handling issues at home might cause the employee to work longer due to the interruption, but there would not be a conflict compared to working late at the office. Remote working requires boundary roles between home life and work-life (Delanoeije et al., 2019). As the employee works from home, they are better suited to deal with home issues or childcare activities to save money on childcare expenses. This freedom increases the employee's job satisfaction.

Another aspect that leads to increased job satisfaction is the remote worker's ability to control their working environment (Nakrošienė et al., 2019). In a recent study

of 128 remote workers in Lithuania, one of the contributing factors to job satisfaction is the suitability of the working conditions at home (Nakrošienė et al., 2019). The authors stated that working conditions in the office correlate to the company's position and status. Remote workers can have an office set up at home that is better than what they had in the office, making them more comfortable and having higher job satisfaction. Nakrošienė et al. (2019) continue to explain that a remote worker can spend time with family that they would not otherwise be able to do, like eating breakfast with their children in the morning. These aspects may seem minor, but they allow the remote worker to control their work environment, making them happy. Allowing the employees' opportunity to work remotely can impact employees who are not allowed to work remotely. In a recent study of 194,739 US federal employees, there was a positive correlation between remote workers and job satisfaction (Lee & Kim, 2018). Remote workers had higher job satisfaction than traditional office employees. However, there was also a negative correlation between non-remote workers who could not work remotely and job satisfaction. The authors show that employees who were not allowed to work remotely for reasons other than technical reasons had lower job satisfaction than non-remote workers not allowed to work remotely due to technical limitations (Lee & Kim, 2018). When employees choose to telework and decide not to telework, their job satisfaction is like those of remote workers.

Remote Employee Engagement

Engagement is the state of mind that work is fulfilling and positive, and the supervisor supports and monitors their personal work goals (Groen et al., 2018).

Traditionally, engagement is face-to-face interactions with employees (Golden et al., 2008). With the increases in technology, engagement includes video conferences, teleconferences, phone, email, and instant messaging (Smith et al., 2018). There have been many studies on the positive impact of engagement on traditional workers, but few studies examine the effects on remote workers. Remote working has a beneficial result for new product development due to increased cross-functional communication using virtual communications (Groen et al., 2018). Remote working can become lonely without engagement from management. One of the negative aspects of remote working is social isolation (Bloom et al., 2015; Narayanan et al., 2017; Golden et al., 2008). Social isolation could hurt the employee turnover rate. However, the researchers concluded that there is no positive relationship between professional isolation and decreased turnover rates (Golden et al., 2008).

Managers need to work on a solid relationship with the remote workers to ensure they feel engaged (Graves & Karabayeva, 2020). Open communication is one of the building blocks of trust between the manager and the remote worker (Contreras et al., 2020). Communication can get lost when dealing with remote workers since they are not seen in the office daily. Managers should not underestimate the importance of communication and should be proactive in establishing and maintaining lines of communication. Remote workers need to feel that managers are concerned about their well-being and their contributions are valued (Graves & Karabayeva, 2020). The authors concluded a positive relationship between social support and job performance (Golden & Gajendran, 2018). When the remote workers have a high level of social support from

their managers, they have higher performance than remote workers with low social support. Engagement helps remote workers to perform their jobs more effectively (Golden & Gajendran, 2018).

One of the other concerns with engagement is the diversity of the workforce. While diversity positively impacts innovation and collaboration, it can challenge management when dealing with engagement. Many organizations have generational diversity that had communication breakdowns in a traditional workplace, and these breakdowns have increased as the work transitioned to remote working (Urick, 2020). The perception is that older generational workers are not as comfortable working with technology as younger generational workers. These breakdowns occur based on perceptions and stereotypes that older workers struggle with when dealing with or learning new technology (Urick, 2020). There is no empirical data to support these perceptions. Another perception is that younger generations are not as experienced as older generations, making them unprepared to handle crises. Younger generations perceive that older generations cannot handle emergencies because they cannot adapt quickly to changes (Urick, 2020). These issues can lead to avoidance, which is difficult in a traditional workplace. However, in a remote working environment, it is easy for workers to avoid one another. These issues can cause a breakdown in information sharing and teamwork, which would lead to reduced team performance. Management needs to ensure that engagement within the team is positive, supportive, and productive.

Remote working can harm the psychological need for the workers to have social support, relationships, and interactions, which is called psychological isolation (Wang et

al., 2020). Physical isolation is also a factor. Physical isolation is the feeling that people miss out on benefits and opportunities due to not working within the office (Wang et al., 2020). Remote workers can feel that they are missing career opportunities due to not having daily personal interactions with managers and supervisors compared to their in-office colleagues.

With the recent pandemic, traditional workers have shifted to become remote workers. Unfortunately, some of these workers lacked a suitable environment to have a work office at home. Golden and Gajendran (2018) stated that the work environment could allow the remote worker to perform higher than the traditional worker. Remote workers' performance could suffer from a poor environment and require a higher level of engagement to overcome that. Golden and Gajendran (2018) found that a higher level of engagement will result in higher performance than other remote workers because it helps ensure the remote worker is working effectively.

Remote Employee Turnover Rate

Employee turnover is very costly to a company due to hiring and training costs and disruptions to business operations (Fang & Messacar, 2019). Turnover is one of the management controls items to help reduce costs and increase production. If a company has a high turnover rate, mainly voluntary separation, it is due to poor management or leadership. In a recent study, less than 30% of employees are loyal to their companies (Hornickel, 2019). Four contributing factors lead to a lower employee turnover rate.

- 1. Know your employee
- 2. Provide effective leadership and supervision

- 3. Provide and encourage feedback and recognition
- 4. Offer professional development

Knowing the employee is not easy in a traditional workplace. The average supervisor only spends about 25% with the team members (Hornickel, 2019). Spending time becomes even more difficult in a remote working environment, but it is necessary to reduce the turnover rate. Engagement is another way to help reduce turnover. Providing effective leadership and offering professional development will let the employees feel they are valued and appreciated. This attention will go a long way to helping lower the turnover rates.

When employees are denied the opportunity to work remotely, they are more likely to leave the company within a year (Caillier, 2018). In a survey conducted with government agencies from 2011 to 2014, the author found that as remote working numbers increased, the number of voluntarily separated employees decreased (Caillier, 2018). More employees desire to work remotely, and the number of companies allowing remote work has also increased. In the case of relocating a headquarters or closing a divisional office, remote working can provide a solution to avoid losing quality talent that does not want to relocate (ElBoghdady, 2006).

In a study of 5,452 employees across 127 companies in Germany, remote working had a negative relationship with voluntary employee exits (Marx, 2020). This relationship means that employees are far less likely to quit if they know that work-life balance options are available. Marx (2020) further discovered that parents and women workers are less likely to leave if remote working is available. These findings are essential to

companies as they review post-pandemic work arrangements. Allowing workers to remain working at home can help prevent voluntary separation. Conversely, having a remote working program can enable the company to hire quality talent from other companies that do not allow for remote working.

Kröll and Nüesch (2019) studied different working arrangements about turnover intentions and job satisfaction. The study included 8,325 employees that worked flextime, 7,585 employees that were allowed sabbaticals, and 6,132 employees that worked from home. The authors concluded a positive relationship between job satisfaction and each of the working arrangements (Kröll & Nüesch, 2019). There was a positive relationship between reduced turnover intentions and working from home and sabbaticals, but no significant relationship with flextime (Kröll & Nüesch, 2019). This study supports the point that remote working reduces turnover.

Diversity Team Management

Companies operate in a global economy, and technology has benefited from a globally diverse workforce (Heinz, 2014). It is not uncommon for a company to work in several countries or do business with companies worldwide. This operation has created situations where companies may have teams comprised of members from various cultures or backgrounds. Leaders must possess additional skills to handle multicultural teams. Also, many of these teams are worldwide, and they cannot meet face-to-face like they would in an office setting. Leaders need to have the knowledge and skills to handle the challenges that come with this diversity. Many benefits come with operating globally, but

leadership must have the knowledge or experience to manage diverse teams effectively and negotiate in foreign countries.

Companies use technology more to share ideas across borders and reduce innovation and knowledge sharing (Eisenburg & Mattarelli, 2016). This knowledge sharing has helped create innovative ideas and improve employees' knowledge of other cultures. A person who can handle various cultural settings has high cultural intelligence (Erez et al., 2013). Managing cross-cultural differences is one of the severe issues that multinational companies face (Sogancilar & Ors, 2018). These issues do not prevent companies from hiring global talent or acquiring global companies to gain the benefits of these actions.

One of the benefits is that diverse teams have various cultural backgrounds and experiences shared with everyone and can help with innovation and reduce costs (Eisenburg & Mattarelli, 2016). Learning about other cultures helps team members to understand each other better. Another positive is that innovation improves by sharing knowledge and various cultures and backgrounds within the team (Levitt, 2013). Another positive benefit to diverse virtual teams is a lack of physical contact or interaction between team members. This physical separation will reduce communication confusion due to body language or physical cues (Zakaria et al., 2013).

Cultural intelligence is an essential skill that managers and leaders need to have in this global environment. Working in a global environment has led to the idea that individuals need to have the ability to work in any given cultural team setting. Some people have more experience in dealing with other cultures than others. This experience means that

they have higher cultural intelligence than others. Cultural intelligence is how well an individual can effectively handle a culturally diverse setting (Erez et al., 2013). A person gains cultural intelligence by working with other cultures, being around different cultures, or learning about other cultures. Individuals have a natural global identity based on the country they were raised in or their cultural heritage. Global identity is a sense of belonging to a group and identifying within the global work context (Erez et al., 2013). This identity is crucial because it allows others to have at least some basic knowledge of a person. For example, you would not refer to a person from Japan as Chinese, as this would be an insult. A person with a darker complexion and black hair living in South Florida does not always speak Spanish. These can be damaging stereotypes.

Current Issues or Dilemmas

Communication is essential for any company. Communication for remote workers happens using technology such as email, phone, teleconference, video conferencing, or instant messaging (Morgan et al., 2014). Most of these methods are static and require the reader to interpret the meaning of the message. Video conferencing is the only one where the two parties can see each other and receive visual cues to help communicate.

Sometimes, this lack of visual cues can benefit since visual cues can confuse a message (Zakaria et al., 2013). People send messages with their body language that they may not intend to send. For example, rolling of the eyes, crossed arms, and lack of eye contact are visual cues that can convey a negative message that can be confusing when trying to deliver a positive message.

Conflict is conventional in every teamwork setting and is inherent within the daily interactions of the team members (Tabassi et al., 2019). Conflict is one of the biggest challenges facing organizations. Conflict is the perceived disagreements and incompatibilities between individuals (Windeler et al., 2015). Some conflicts can be positive, but there can also be destructive conflicts that dramatically affect the team. Managers and leaders need to be able to recognize when conflict is damaging and address it. Destructive conflict should not be ignored (du Plessis, 2012). Ignoring the conflict conveys the message that the leadership is not concerned with the issues causing the conflict. This message has a damaging impact on team performance until the conflict is recognized and resolved. Understanding team dynamics is essential when trying to evaluate the conflict that is occurring. For example, Tabassi et al. (2019) found that conflict can be ignored when dealing with a temporary construction company in Malaysia. This approach, however, does not apply to every situation. Team members need to remember that communication is the most important thing when working with individuals from other countries. If there is something that a person doesn't know, do not assume anything, but rather, ask the other person about it (Markman, 2018). People will have more respect if a question is asked rather than assuming something that is not accurate. Organizations that support diversity management will have less damaging conflict because they will promote an environment that values diversity and encourages harmony among the teams (Bae et al., 2019).

Sogancilar & Ors (2018) identified three main challenges when dealing with diverse teams. These were ineffective communication and misunderstandings, different

working styles and expectations, intolerance, and lack of knowledge related to diversity. The authors also identified three solutions offered by the executives of their study. These were embracing diversity and encouraging team members to acknowledge it, becoming approachable and eager to learn more, and communicating simply and straightforwardly (Sogancilar & Ors, 2018).

The global economy has caused companies to operate in countries they had not previously operated in. This change has also changed the dynamics of the workforce and created a need for diversity. Diversity came with benefits like knowledge sharing, innovation, and cost reductions. These benefits also came with challenges of dealing with cultural differences that caused conflicts among the teams. Conflict management is one of the most critical skills that a manager can possess, as conflict is a constant when employees work in groups of two or more. Technology has also improved and led to teams connecting in ways they had not done before. Communication issues arose that caused confusion and conflict. Leaders had to learn how to deal with these new diverse teams by learning the most effective way to identify and handle communication and conflict. One of the tools to work on this was to identify and increase the leader's cultural intelligence. A leader's cultural intelligence is developed through experience and education. Cultural intelligence is a topic that needs further research to help leaders identify and improve their executives' cultural intelligence and the best way to accomplish this critical task. Companies will not go back to operating domestically only, so leaders will need to understand the benefits and challenges of having a diverse

workforce and help create an environment that will encourage open communication and allow knowledge sharing and innovation to grow and succeed.

Social Change

Social change is ideas, strategies, and actions that promote the wealth, dignity, and development of a culture or society's communities, organizations, and individuals (Walden, 2020). Creating jobs is a form of social change because it improves the economic future of a community. Another form of social change is preserving jobs. Several cities have been negatively affected when mining companies abandoned mining facilities leaving the cities struggling financially. In 2005, the US Government informed the Defense Information Systems Agency (DISA) they would be moving their operations from Virginia to Maryland, and the almost 4,000 employees would be relocated (ElBoghdady, 2006). Roughly 2,000 employees would refuse to relocate. The government decided to implement remote working for these employees to avoid relocating (ElBoghdady, 2006). The decision to offer remote working prevented the city from losing more than 2,000 residents.

Remote working programs can have a positive effect on social change by creating jobs. Hiring remote workers allows companies to select from a much larger talent pool that spans the world rather than their geographical limitations (Radu, 2018). The areas where companies hire remote workers will benefit from the increased revenue generated by the workers. An example of this is a rural area in Eastern Kentucky. The Eastern Kentucky Concentrated Employment Program (EKCEP) has placed almost 600 local

workers in remote customer service jobs (Brown, 2017). These placements equate to roughly \$12 million in wages earned that will help the local community.

China also had social change from creating jobs for remote working. Following a study of the benefits of having a remote working program, a Chinese call center established regional offices in lower-wage areas of inland China using the same technology (Bloom et al., 2015). The company was able to help the economic status of these areas by hiring remote workers at a higher wage than they can get locally. Some states in the USA offer businesses tax deductions up to \$1,200, and Virginia allows tax credits up to \$50,000 (Galardo & Whitacre, 2018). These tax benefits can be passed down to the employees' wages, increasing their household income.

Social change can also come from employees' savings used in the local economy. According to Hambly and Lee (2019), the average cost savings to a remote worker in Canada is approximately \$15,000 per year. This estimate is based on the time and distance saved from not commuting to work every day.

Social change can also come from increasing wealth. A recent study of 3,523 home and farm residences in Southwest Ontario implemented the SouthWest Integrated Fibre Technology Inc (SWIFT) network (Hambly & Lee, 2019). This network improved the internet access to broadband capabilities which allowed for faster transmission speeds. This increase in technology allowed more employees to work remotely at least three days per week. The study results were that employees who worked remotely at least three days a week saved at least \$12,000 per year. Based on 2,899 residential homes, the savings total is \$34,788,000. These savings are a result of reduced commute costs and

hours spent commuting. The savings represent a significant increase in the wealth of the workers as well as the communities.

Social change can also come from the organization's diversity due to hiring individuals from around the world. Recent studies have revealed that diversity can help with innovation and complex problem solving (Baradello & Dibble, 2020; Brunetta et al., 2020). Having cultural experience from around the world can help bring multiple perspectives to virtual collaborations when discussing new ideas or problems. With the recent pandemic causing companies to create remote working programs, it has also created opportunities to explore talent outside of the geographical area they operate. By seeking and hiring a diverse workforce, it is helping both the organization gain critical knowledge and experience while assisting various economic regions that were not in the recent past.

Transition

In Section 1, I provided the background of the problem, problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, and the research question. I also provided the interview questions. Section 1 also included the conceptual framework and operational definitions. I also had assumptions, limitations, delimitations, the study's significance, and implications for social change in Section 1.

Section 1 also included an exhaustive literature review on the business problem that leaders lack strategies to implement a remote working program. I used social exchange theory, gift exchange theory, and management control theory to help understand the factors involved with remote working. Transformational leadership was

discussed as the best leadership style for remote working programs, along with the impact that leadership has on remote workers. Remote employee performance, performance indicators, job satisfaction, engagement, and turnover rate were also discussed. Diversity and social change were also covered in Section1.

In Section 2, I will provide the details of how the study will be completed, including my role as the researcher, the study participants, the research method and design, and the population of the study. I will define the data collection instruments and techniques. I will also discuss the data organization techniques, data analysis, data reliability, and data validity.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the leadership strategies that leaders use to implement an effective remote working program. The target population was three leaders of major corporations within the financial services industry who have effective remote working programs in Florida. The results of this study may contribute to social change by helping to improve the economic situation of undeserved areas by hiring remote workers from those areas. These households will have a financial increase that they can use in their local communities.

Role of the Researcher

I was the primary instrument in this study. One of the primary roles of the researcher is data collection (Yin, 2018). As the data collector, I used an interview protocol as the method of collecting the data. I used open-ended questions to gather used data from leaders regarding strategies to implement a remote working program. I transcribed the answers to these questions into coded data for analysis. I analyzed the data and formulated my findings.

One concern for the researcher is the amount of bias towards the subject. Bias is a concern when the role of the researcher coincides with the role of the practitioner (Karagiozis, 2018). Qualitative research is considered participatory, and there is a risk that the researcher's bias may affect the study's outcome (Clark & Vealé, 2018). Clark and Vealé (2018) also advised that researchers disclose their assumptions or biases while collecting, coding, and sorting the data. I have direct knowledge of the subject matter due

to working remotely for the past five years in a senior leadership position at two financial services companies who operate in the State of Florida. I mitigated bias by taking a scientific approach to the collection and interpretation of the study data. This was accomplished by setting up an interview protocol, conducting member checking, and reviewing the accuracy of the data collected. I also used data triangulation to increase researcher objectivity. I also checked my interview questions for any bias I unintentionally had when initially developing the questions.

Ethical research is one of the most important factors in the study. A recent study was conducted regarding ethics in research (Pan, 2020). Pan (2020) stated a growing concern over ethical misconduct in research in the past 20 years. One concern mentioned was a conflict of interest. Conflict of interest is when a researcher has a financial, personal interest, or opinion that might affect their ability to be objective in performing the research and reporting the findings (Pan, 2020). While performing the research and data collection, I remained objective and performed the tasks ethically by following the interview protocol (Appendix A) and keeping detailed accurate records. I kept the study participants' identities confidential and used codes when referencing their responses in the study. Examples of these codes are P1, P2, and P3 to represent the three participants.

Participants

The focus of this study was to explore the strategies that leaders utilize to implement a remote working strategy. I limited the scope of the study to the financial services industry because that industry tends to have the highest number of remote workers. To further reduce the number of possible participants, I focused on companies

with operations in the State of Florida. The participants are leaders of companies in the financial services industry and operate in Florida. The main eligibility criteria for the participants is that they have a portion of their workforce that works at least 3 days a week or more remotely, preferably that they work full-time remotely. The company is a large-sized corporation.

Access to the participants was by direct contact via phone and email.

Bakkalbasioglu (2020) described making a list of the potential participants before contact to find them on any professional websites to get contact information. I used the company's website to obtain the name of the leaders and the contact phone numbers and email. I connected with the leaders, presented my study's purpose, and requested that they participate in a short interview. I explained that their identity will remain confidential and provided an informed consent form for their approval and signature.

The study participants answered the questions openly and honestly. Developing a working relationship has been identified as the best way to ensure open and honest responses from the study participants (Pinnegar & Quiles-Fernández, 2018). The interview process should have more of a personal feel, so the participant is comfortable answering honestly. Having transparency with the participants helped them to feel more comfortable.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

There are three methods: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Saunders et al., 2015). The qualitative methodology provides more in-depth knowledge of how or

why a phenomenon occurs (Yin, 2018). Prior research indicates a qualitative methodology is used to explain and understand complex scenarios (Alam, 2020). I used the qualitative methodology for this study. Qualitative methodology is used more often with written or verbal information that does not involve numbers as data. Quantitative methodology is used to evaluate the relationship between variables (Saunders et al., 2015). A quantitative method is not appropriate for this study because the study will evaluate the relationship between variables. A mixed method is used to evaluate the relationship of variables and the how or why a phenomenon occurs (Yin, 2018). Mixed methodology is not appropriate for this study because the study will evaluate the relationship between variables.

Research Design

I selected a single case study design to explore leaders' leadership strategies to implement effective remote working programs. Some design options include phenomenological, ethnography, and case study (Saunders et al., 2015). A case study allows data to be collected that explores the scenario in a real-world setting (Alam, 2020). This method helps the researcher to have a better understanding of the phenomenon and be able to describe it accurately (Alam, 2020). A single case study is the research of the phenomenon in a real-world setting from a single source or group (Yin, 2018). A single case study is appropriate to explore the phenomenon among three leaders. A phenomenological design explores the participant's lived experiences with the phenomenon (Saunders et al., 2015). An ethnography design focuses on the participant's specific culture regarding the phenomenon (Saunders et al., 2015). A phenomenological

and ethnography design would not be appropriate for this study because the clear intent is to explore strategies leaders use to implement an effective remote working program, not a specific experience or culture.

Data saturation is when new data are no longer being added to the database because of duplication or no longer having references or quotes in a certain position (Alam, 2000). Saturation can occur at different points depending on the type of research participants. Alam (2000) defined data saturation as the point when no more new information is generated from the data. I reached data saturation when no new codes or themes were generated.

Population and Sampling

The sample was three leaders of a major corporation within the financial services industry who have effective remote working programs in Florida. One of the criteria for a participant is the leader of a mid-range or larger company. Other criteria was for the company to have a successful remote working program. The last criterion was that they have a working knowledge of the remote working program. To ensure that participation is voluntary, the participants did not receive compensation. This rule helped ensure that the responses provided are open and honest. The participants' identities are kept confidential. Confidentiality also helped to ensure the participants respond openly and honestly because there was no fear of repercussions based on any answer they gave to the interview questions.

Sampling methods are categorized into two main groups called probability and nonprobability sampling (Nanjundeswaraswamy & Divakar, 2021). Qulaitative research

studies use nonprobability sampling to ensure the participants meet certain criteria and quantitative research uses probability sampling (Ellis, 2020). Sampling for a qualitative research study is determined by the researcher's access to potential participants.

Convenience sampling is when a researcher selects participants based on their geographical or spatial proximity (Alkassim & Tran, 2015). This method is not considered convenience sampling because the sample area will be the entire State of Florida and not the local city. Purposive sampling is choosing study participants based on established qualifications of knowledge or experience (Alkassim & Tran, 2015). I used purposive sampling for the study because the participants are leaders and have a successful remote working program.

Ethical Research

Ethical research is one of the most important factors in the study. A recent study was conducted regarding ethics in research (Pan, 2020). Pan stated a growing concern over ethical misconduct in research in the past 20 years (Pan, 2020). One concern mentioned was a conflict of interest. Conflict of interest is when a researcher has a financial, personal interest, or opinion that might affect their ability to be objective in performing the research and reporting the findings (Pan, 2020). While performing the research and data collection, I remained objective and performed the tasks ethically. I kept the study participants' identities confidential and used codes when referencing their responses in the study.

The Belmont Report is a highly regarded study of how researchers should ethically behave when conducting research involving human participants (Miracle, 2016).

Miracle discussed the three main principles of the Belmont Report are respect for persons, beneficence, and justice. Respect for persons ensures that the participants are treated fairly and respectfully (Miracle, 2016). Respect for people would include not taking advantage of a person that might be vulnerable. Beneficence is the idea of doing good (Miracle, 2016). Beneficence would consist of not doing harm and helping to increase potential benefits. Justice is the idea of creating trust and giving equal, fair treatment to all people without discrimination or prejudice (Miracle, 2016). Justice would include ensuring the participants all have a safe, comfortable environment and the assurance of confidentiality.

Compliance with the Belmont report is critical. To ensure compliance, I conveyed verbally and in wring the assurance of security and confidentiality of the participants' identities and their data. Their identities remain entirely separate from the data and research study and will only be referenced by codes and not by name. The location of the data are on a separate password-protected thumb drive. The participants were given a confidentiality statement to provide further reassurance of their protection. To ensure they understand these protections, they were required to sign an informed consent form agreeing to the terms of the research study. Any participant that did not sign the informed consent form were removed from the participant pool.

Data Collection Instruments

Data collection is necessary in order to perform data analysis. Yin (2018) stated that data collection could come from six sources. These sources are documents, archival records, interviews, direct observations, physical artifacts, and participant observations

(Yin, 2018). I was the primary instrument for this study. I used semi structured interviews as the method for collecting the data. Semi structured interviews are open-ended questions that allow the respondents to answer with more explanation than simply yes or no (Yin, 2018). The interviews took place via phone. Yin also recommended that a researcher utilize two data collection methods for qualitative research studies. Alam (2020) stated that an interview taken personally will help stimulate the depth of the responses because the participants will have a better understanding of the questions.

Data Collection Technique

There are several methods that can be used to collect data. Data collection for a case study can be done using structured, semi structured, and unstructured interviews (Alam, 2020). These interviews can be done through face-to-face interviews, telephone calls, or online meetings (Alam, 2020). The interview can be one-on-one or group setting interviews (Yin, 2018). I used one-on-one interviews as the method of collecting the data. The interviews were conducted with participants over the telephone. The interviews were recorded and then transcribed. The interview consisted of a set of open-ended questions (Appendix B). I used an interview protocol (Appendix A) for the data collection process.

One of the most important components to ensure quality interview data are developing an interview protocol (Yeong et al., 2018). An interview protocol is an established plan to conduct the interviews to ensure quality data responses. The first step in the protocol is to ensure the interview questions (Appendix B) align with the research question (Yeong et al., 2018). The questions should be in-depth and allow the participant to respond with details. The next step is to establish an inquiry-based conversation

(Yeong et al., 2018). The interviewer should feel relaxed so the participant can respond freely. The next step is to receive feedback on interview protocols (Yeong et al., 2018). Other sources should test the questions to anticipate the responses and refine the questions as needed. The final step is to receive feedback from the actual participant (Yeong et al., 2018). This is called member checking.

Member checking helps to improve the quality of the data and to reduce researcher bias. Member checking is confirming with the participants that the interpretation of the interview responses is accurate (Anney, 2014; Candela, 2019). Any feedback from the participants can help to refine the interpretation of the data (Candela, 2019). I provided my findings of the analysis to the participants to ensure the accuracy of the data based on the understanding of their individual responses. I used the information gained from the member checking to update the data. Member checking continued until the participants confirmed the interpretation of the data was accurate.

Data Organization Technique

It is important to have the data organized prior to data analysis. Before data analysis can be performed, the data needs to be organized (Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) described five ways data can be organized. One way is to put the data into different arrays or use different themes or subthemes (Yin, 2018). Another way to organize the data is to set up a matrix with contrasting categories and place the data into the cells (Yin, 2018). Yin described creating visual displays like flow charts or other graphics to examine the data. Yin states another way to organize the data by tabulating the frequency

of different events. The final way to organize the data is to put the data into sequential or chronological order (Yin, 2018).

Data Analysis

Data analysis is needed to interpret the data and report the findings. I used Yin's five phases of analysis to analyze and interpret the data. Yin's five-phase cycle of data analysis. The five-phase cycle includes compiling the data, disassembling the data, reassembling the data, interpreting the data, and concluding the data (Yin, 2011). The data analysis can be performed manually or with computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software like CAQDAS, Atlas.ti, or NVivo, (Yin, 2018). Data triangulation was used for data analysis. There are four types of triangulations: method triangulation, investigator triangulation, theory triangulation, and data source triangulation (Carter et al., 2014; Fusch et al., 2018). I used data source triangulation in this study.

The first phase is compiling the data (Yin,2011). I developed a set of questions that were asked of the study participants during semi structured interviews. The interviews were recorded to capture the exact responses from the study participants. I took the recordings of the semi structured interviews and uploaded them in a secured location with password protection separate from the other research. I then transcribed the interviews, so the data were compiled for further analysis.

Each participant's interview has their own folder to ensure integrity of the data.

All notes and member checking data are also stored in their respective folders. A

database was created for each participant where the data created from the recordings is

stored for data analysis. The data analysis was performed by MAXQDA, and the database was compatible with the software used.

The second phase is disassembling the data (Yin, 2011). Disassembling the data includes breaking down the data into categories and creating codes to sort the data into themes (Yin, 2011). I categorized the responses to each question into codes. The codes have words that reoccur in the data included in a table format. These codes were then grouped into themes. I used MAXQDA to search for themes in the data. The themes helped show strategies that leaders use to implement a successful remote working program.

The third phase is reassembling the data (Yin, 2011). Reassembling the data includes categorizing and tabulating the data and analyzing it to determine if any patterns or themes exist in the data (Yin, 2011). The data tables created were run through MAXQDA to identify themes based on the codes of data from the interviews. I was able to determine any patterns that developed in the data. These patterns represented themes that helped answer the research question.

The fourth phase is interpreting the data (Yin, 2011). Interpreting the data includes triangulating the data to provide meaning and to answer the research question (Yin, 2011). The data were formatted into codes and themes to allow the data analysis to determine any connections the themes have with the research question. There was sufficient data to answer the research question and the conclusion phase began.

The fifth phase is concluding the data (Yin, 2011). Concluding the data includes answering the research question based on the results of the research study (Yin, 2011). I

used member checking to confirm the data. Member checking allows the study participants the opportunity to verify the interpretation of the interviews are accurate (Yeong et al., 2018). I used the results to provide the conclusion of the study and to make recommendations for future research.

Another strategy is to analyze data is the general inductive approach. The general inductive approach is designed to condense the data, make connections between the data and the research objectives, and provide a theory based on the connections (Dufour et al., 2019). The approach has three phases, consolidating, ranking, and establishing connections (Dufour et al., 2019).

The first phase is consolidating the data (Dufour et al., 2019). This phase involves looking at the participant's responses, placing words or phrases into categories, and assigning a code (Dufour et al., 2019). This process should result in about 30 to 40 codes. The second phase is ranking. In this phase, the codes are placed into categories to develop sensitizing concepts (Dufour et al., 2019). This phase should result in 15 to 20 categories (Dufour et al., 2019). The third phase is establishing connections (Dufour et al., 2019). The categories are then compared to the concepts to develop a new theory (Dufour et al., 2019). The result should be no more than 8 to 10 categories as most important (Dufour et al., 2019).

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability is essential in research studies. The goal of reliability in research studies is to limit the amount of bias and errors in the study (Yin, 2018). Reliability is

essential, so future researchers should get similar results following the same procedures in a different case. One main factor in reliability is documentation (George et al., 2003; Yin, 2018). The researcher needs to have detailed documentation of the procedures used for the study. This process involves using a case study protocol or a case study database (Yin, 2018).

A case study protocol has the procedures and rules used during the research study (Yin,2018). The case study protocol has four main sections to document these rules and procedures. These include an overview section, data collection procedures, protocol questions, and a tentative outline (Yin, 2018). These sections will help the researcher remain focused on the topic. The sections also help with how reports are completed because the audience will be identified (Yin, 2018). A case study protocol is used when doing a single case study (Yin, 2018).

A case study database organizes and documents the data collected during the case study (Yin, 2018). The data will be both narrative and numeric to represent the sources of the evidence used in the study (Yin, 2018). The database can be set up using CAQDAS or a simple word processing or spreadsheet software program (Yin, 2018). This database allows others to inspect the data used to arrive at the study's results. Using a case study protocol and a case study database will dramatically increase the reliability of the case study (Yin, 2018).

Dependability

Dependability adds to the reliability of the research study by providing a trust in the data. Connelly (2016) stated dependability is how stable the data are over time and

conditions of the study. Dependability has a focus on the conditions of the study. Not every study will have the same conditions but might have similar conditions. Having dependability in the study will provide future researchers confidence that the data will be reliable based on the same study conditions.

Validity

Validity is the credibility and accuracy of the research study (George et al., 2003). Validity has two general divisions, internal and external (George et al., 2003). Internal validity determines if the actual observations and data measurements are actual and true observations and measurements (George et al., 2003). Yin (2018) describes internal validity as establishing a causal relationship between an event and a result. One concern with intern validity is inferences made by the researcher regarding events not observed (Yin, 2018). External validity generalizes the findings beyond the research study (George et al., 2003; Yin, 2018).

Creditability

Credibility is one of the essential indicators for a strong qualitative study (Liao & Hitchcock, 2018). Credibility techniques include sampling, prolonged engagement, triangulation, and member checks (Liao & Hitchcock, 2018). Prolonged engagement is when a large amount of time is spent in the field researching the phenomenon (Liao & Hitchcock, 2018). Member checking is when the data and analysis are shared with the participant to get their feedback (Liao & Hitchcock, 2018). I used sampling and member checking to ensure credibility and dependability in the study.

Data triangulation also helps for credibility and to reduce bias. Triangulation is using multiple data sources or methods to reach a complete understanding of the phenomenon (Carter et al., 2014). There are four types of triangulations: method triangulation, investigator triangulation, theory triangulation, and data source triangulation (Carter et al., 2014; Fusch et al., 2018). Method triangulation uses multiple methods of data collection like interviews, observations, and field notes (Carter et al., 2014). Investigator triangulation requires two or more researchers studying the same phenomenon (Carter et al., 2014). Theory triangulation uses different theories to study the phenomenon (Carter et al., 2014). Data source triangulation is collecting data from different data types like individuals, groups, families, or communities to understand and validate the data (Carter et al., 2014). I used data source triangulation for this study.

Conformability

Conformability refers to utilizing the same processes used in one study to research another occurrence of the phenomenon (Yin, 2018). Similarly, the process should also be able to be used to find contrasting results. Slevin et al. (1999) used the word consistency to describe the stability and validity of the research to ensure the findings repeated with the same results. I used strict adherence to the interview protocol (Appendix A) to ensure the conformability of the research study.

Transferability

The study findings should be able to be applied to other studies or scenarios. The term transferability concerning the research study means the findings may apply in other

studies or scenarios (Slevin et al., 1999). Slevin et al. (1999) state that five criteria enhance transferability. These criteria are:

- 1. Providing rich and dense data.
- 2. Focusing the study on the typical situation.
- 3. Investigate more than one site.
- 4. Study the leading edge of change.
- 5. Using a systemic approach.

I presented the study's findings using rich and dense data to ensure the transferability of the study.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, the researcher restated the purpose statement to explore leaders' leadership strategies to implement an effective remote working program. The role of the researcher was identified and discussed, along with the participants, the targeted population, and the geographic location of the participants. The research method, research design, and ethical research were also discussed in Section 2. Data collection and data analysis were addressed. Section 2 concluded with the reliability and validity of the research study. In Section 3, the findings will be presented and how the results are applied to professional practice and any impact on positive social change.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

Section 3 includes the presentation of the findings, application for professional practice, implication for social change, and recommendations for action. This section concludes with suggestions for further research, personal reflections, and a conclusion.

Presentation of the Findings

The objective of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies used to implement a successful remote working program. In this study, I used Kahn's (1989) OLT as the conceptual framework used to represent the way leaders motivate and measure remote workers. The importance of this theory is to connect remote working behaviors to production metrics used by managers to ensure the workers are meeting the defined goals set by the leadership.

The research question is, what leadership strategies do leaders use to implement effective remote working programs? Qualitative data were collected using structured interviews conducted with three leaders of a company that has a successful remote working program with operations in the State of Florida. The interviews were transcribed, and the transcriptions were sent to the participants for member checking.

The participants' identities were kept confidential in the transcripts and are referenced using the codes P1, P2, and P3. The data are secured on an external drive with encryption security. The drive will be kept in a locked location for a period of 5 years.

Data Analysis

Data analysis was needed to interpret the data and report the findings. I used Yin's (2011) five phases of analysis to analyze and interpret the data. Yin's five phase cycle of data analysis. The five phase cycle includes compiling the data, disassembling the data, reassembling the data, interpreting the data, and concluding the data (Yin, 2011). The data analysis can be performed manually or with computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software like CAQDAS, Atlas.ti, or NVivo (Yin, 2018).

The first phase is compiling the data (Yin, 2011). I developed a set of questions that were asked of the study participants during semi structured interviews. The interviews were recorded to capture the exact responses from the study participants. I took the recordings of the semi structured interviews and uploaded them in a secured location with password protection separate from the other research. I then transcribed the interviews, so the data were compiled for further analysis.

Each participant's interview has their own folder to ensure integrity of the data. All notes and member checking data are also stored in their respective folders. A database was created for each participant where the data created from the recordings is stored for data analysis. The data analysis was performed by MAXQDA, and the database was compatible with the software used.

The second phase is disassembling the data (Yin, 2011). Disassembling the data includes breaking down the data into categories and creating codes to sort the data into themes (Yin, 2011). I categorized the responses to each question into codes. The codes have words that reoccur in the data included in a table format. These codes were then

grouped into themes. I used MAXQDA to organize the data. The themes helped show strategies that leaders use to implement a successful remote working program.

The third phase is reassembling the data (Yin, 2011). Reassembling the data includes categorizing and tabulating the data and analyzing it to determine if any patterns or themes exist in the data (Yin, 2011). The data tables created were run through MAXQDA to identify themes based on the codes of data from the interviews. I was able to determine any patterns that developed in the data. These patterns represented themes that helped answer the research question.

As the data were reassembled, there emerged themes that several data points could be grouped together. The data pointed to leadership which was further categorized as leadership strategies and leadership styles. Another theme that emerged was management. There were several data points that could be categorized as management, but no further subcategories could be made. The third theme to emerge was pros and cons. After further analysis, it was categorized as benefits and drawbacks.

The fourth phase is interpreting the data (Yin, 2011). Interpreting the data includes triangulating the data to provide meaning and to answer the research question (Yin, 2011). The data were formatted into codes and themes to allow the data analysis to determine any connections the themes have with the research question. There was sufficient data to answer the research question and the conclusion phase began.

The fifth phase is concluding the data (Yin, 2011). Concluding the data includes answering the research question based on the results of the research study (Yin, 2011). I used member checking to confirm the data. Member checking allows the study

participants the opportunity to verify the interpretation of the interviews are accurate (Yeong et al., 2018). I used the results to provide the conclusion of the study and to make recommendations for future research.

Based on thematic analysis, three themes emerged in relation to strategies used to implement a successful remote working program. Those themes are leadership strategies and styles, management of remote workers, and the benefits and drawbacks to remote working. The leaders were very familiar with strategies used by the company for the remote working program. The study findings confirmed the leadership strategies that are best to utilize a successful remote working program.

Theme 1: Leadership Strategies and Styles

Leadership Strategies

There are many strategies and styles leaders use to maximize production. The study participants stated that using production incentives and metrics was the most effective way to maximize production. Concerning incentives, P3 stated, "Definitely incentivizing those that perform has been a big part of our success." P1 stated, "So, the most effective way that we have used so far is through incentive programs on volume and quality." Concerning metrics, P2 stated, "Articulate to the team how you are looking to benchmark success, and if you have metric-driven businesses, you know that is even better." P2 went on to say, "Measure them based more on the output." Production metrics is what managers used to evaluate if the remote workers were reaching their production targets.

Leadership Styles

The participants also discussed that micromanagement is not a good leadership style for a successful remote working program. P2 stated, "I don't think that micromanagement works very well." P1 went on to say, "So, it's more of about trying to recognize and reward than it is about looking constantly over somebody's shoulder." P1 additionally said, "And not crossing the line or again where it feels like micromanagement versus being there to support them." P3 said, "We don't like to manage by fear and having people worried about her jobs." This identified clearly that micromanaging a remote working program would not lead to overall success.

Leadership strategies relate directly to Kahn's (1989) OLT because the focus is on incentives for the remote workers to promote a positive behavior of giving a high level of production and quality. The presence of rewards or penalties also helps motivate employees of the organization (Kahn, 1989). Leadership styles relate to the OLT based on the engagement of the remote workers. Micromanaging does not support a positive rewarding environment for remote workers.

Theme 2: Management of Remote Workers

Management of the remote workers was an important theme from the interviews. The participants discussed the impact the global pandemic had on the operations, the results the pandemic had on operations, and management styles managers use with remote workers. They also discussed the importance of metrics and incentives when motivating remote workers. The participants also discussed the challenges managers faced when dealing with a remote working staff.

The global pandemic had a tremendous impact on business operations around the world. The participants discussed how it impacted their organization and what changes were needed to ensure continued operations. P3 stated< "And when covid hit we actually had to have those resources in India, we had to have equipment shipped to their houses, and other types of security protocols and incentives in place to make sure that individuals in India were able to perform and execute out the strategies." Additionally, P3 said, "Really having the right protocols and the security management incentives is key." Having a remote working program in the United States allowed the company to apply the same processes to India and initiate the remote working program there quickly to have the least amount of impact on operations.

The global pandemic also affected the leverage the company had to offer remote working to top performers. P1 stated, "There was nothing to be earned anymore because it was automatic, so it was a great motivational tool because folks like to work at home." P1 also said, "When it becomes an assumed given, you have to figure out how to help the folks that may not be as good remotely perform better." P2 stated, "When you're going through covid as a for instance, everything had to be done remote, and now people are looking more rationally at it and saying that 'hey, remote may work, but maybe not for these two things. It works for these eight, but not for these two." All workers became remote workers overnight and leadership had to make adjustments to how they handled the staff.

Remote working takes effort from managers and the participants have mentioned the importance of metrics. The results of remote working help to determine the success of

the program. P3 went on to say, "We've seen both offshore and onshore, people have gotten more efficient." P3 provided further clarification with the following comment: "Increased throughput, better quality, which when you think of offshore, or when I thought offshore, you know it's the low cost option, you can potentially pass pricing onto clients, and you can be the low-cost provider, but that was not the story at all, the story was, increased efficiency and increased quality." P1 said, "Because of the way we split it out, and bifurcated that process, the quality has improved, and the productivity has improved. Which is what you want, and that's what it is about." Leadership has definitely seen increased production and quality but has clarified that it takes managers to support the remote workers to realize the full results of the remote working program.

Managers are an important part to the remote working program's success. There are different aspects that make up a good manager for a remote working program. Their management style is one of the biggest components. When asked what the least effective style would be, P3 stated, "I would say 'Laissez-faire,' just kind of let people flow and not have oversight." They went on to say, "Productivity is going to decrease in that environment." The participants agreed that micromanagement also does not work well. What they all agreed on is an environment driven by personal accountability where the remote workers have goals and metrics are key to success. P3 confirmed by saying, "You need to have these controls in place to be successful in a remote environment." Having incentives was also important. P3 specified that "everyone was aligned with the goals, and when we hit our goals, they were incentivized accordingly."

Managers faced challenges having to adapt to a fully remote working program. P1 explained, "It's so hard of now because managers – we have solid strong managers – they're not equipped to work in a remote environment and to make people get on phones, if they don't pick up the phone, does that mean they are moving their mouse?" P2 further explained, "As a manager, you need to be comfortable with the fact that remote can also just be remote to your physical location, and if you were used to running a team of 40 to 50 people who all sat in offices or cubicles kind of in front of you, and now you have this geographically dispersed model, it will be different. You need to think about 'how do I benchmark those people,' 'how do I think about being successful in that context,' whether somebody is working from a home office, or whether they are working from a company office in a different part of the globe." P2 also stated, "I think it's around education of how to think about and benchmark people. I will say that there are a lot of folks that spent their entire careers working with teams that were directly in front of them. And they really struggled with moving to more of a remote type of work environment."

To help managers with this challenge, the company split the management duties. P1 explains, "We've tried to make it a 'help yourself' environment so that we have folks that are production managers (PMs) or quality managers (QMs). So, we've bifurcated out the management a bit. So that the remote staff can kind of seek where they feel the most assistance based on the issue they are having." P1 further clarified this split: "So what we get is we split it up that specialization component I talked about a little bit. There's a quality group that holds lunch and learns, there is a performance group that works

through HR issues and scheduling issues with them, there's a productivity group with quick hints on what they can do to improve, so it's kind of hitting them with multiple different teams or folks instead of having just one manager that's a do all, credit and grade specialist." This approach is a nonconventional way of managing, but it has proved to be successful. P2 states, "It proved that people could be effective working remote if properly managed, which gets you to a place where you can have more of a hybrid or even fully remote work structure and have more people over the organization comfortable with that." Effective managers play a critical role in the success of the remote working program.

Management applies directly to the OLT because the focus is on the metrics and performance of the remote workers. These measurements determine if the remote workers receive an incentive or have a redesignation to work in the office. Also, there is an expectation that the remote worker has to hit production goals to continue working remotely, which the remote worker holds as a benefit.

Theme 3: Benefits and Drawbacks to Remote Working

The third theme that emerged was benefits and drawbacks to remote working.

Understanding the benefits and drawbacks is important when deciding to implement a remote working program, otherwise, the program will not be successful. The benefits are split between benefits for the remote worker and benefits for the company. The drawbacks would be any concerns the company would need to be aware of with a remote working program.

The OLT describes an exchange of social values between two parties (Kahn, 1989). The remote worker determines the worth of the gift by the benefits they receive from working remotely. Leadership should be aware of these benefits. P1 describes one of the benefits as, "They can start at 6 in the morning and finish up earlier in the afternoon which is more conducive, and you can't do that in the office as easily." P3 stated, "Having people who were commuting into offices an hour, an hour a half each way, they are losing 2 and a half to 3 hours of their day just commuting, and we actually saw higher productivity domestically as well just having people waking up and working, you can take some time off to recharge during the day, and flexibility that I feel is strongly we are never going to get back to 5 days a week where you have to be in an office." P2 explained, "You are minimizing your time spending getting to and out of work, adding some flexibility to your life, and really it's a good fit, because that is your lifestyle." The main benefit is having more control over the work time and environment. Avoiding loss time to traffic and commuting and having the flexibility to work different hours are important benefits to remote workers.

Benefits for the leaders of the company are a little different. These focus on the productivity and financial benefit for the company. P3 summed it up as, "So it isn't just about doing it cheaper, it's about doing it better and faster than our competitors." They further clarified this by saying, "it's given us a competitive edge where certain firms we compete against don't have offshore or had a return to office policy too early. We were really able to recruit employees and retain those employees even in a tough market, so can't stress enough how important it has been to our strategy overall and success as a

firm." P2 stated, "they are able to find that time during the day when they are the most aligned with getting the maximum amount of throughput." P3 added quality to throughput as they are equally important.

There are drawbacks to remote working that impact both the remote workers and the company. The drawbacks center around the personal connection lost by working remotely. P1 states, "This is kind of like so impersonal, it's a challenge, you know everything is remote and then you mail them a laptop, you know?" P1 also said, "I miss the connectivity you get to have with folks, right?". P2 added, "as far as taking away potential community aspects of building a culture and alignment on bigger, strategic projects, which take more active discussion and problem-solving." There is a need to have a higher level of engagement with remote workers to overcome this disconnection.

The benefits and drawbacks directly relate to the OLT because they relate metrics and production goals with the benefits of working remotely. The remote workers accept both the benefits and the drawbacks of working remotely and perform accordingly to ensure they do not lose the privilege of remote working.

Application to Professional Practice

The results of this research study contributed to a number of strategies that leaders can take to implement a successful remote working program. Leaders utilize a supporting style of management built with well-defined metrics and clear expectations. Managers do not have a micromanagement style when managing remote workers. Leaders also incorporate an incentive program to incentivize the remote workers to reach their

maximum production and quality levels. Managers play a critical role in the success or failure of the remote working program.

The results of the data revealed that managers are a key component of the remote working program because they have the direct contact with the employees. Since the employees do not work in the office, the manager might be the only contact the employee will have with the company. That is the reason the managers need to have a supportive role rather than a micromanager. The managers will also have the responsibility of monitoring the production and quality of work from the remote workers. Leaders need to work with managers that don't have much experience working with a remote work staff since it requires a different approach that dealing with an in-office staff. Dividing the management roles allows managers to focus on their assigned metrics. That might be a production manager that focuses on the production any quality, and a personnel manager that focuses on the employee's attendance and professional goals.

Implications for Positive Social Change

Social change is ideas, strategies, and actions that promote the wealth, dignity, and development of a culture or society's communities, organizations, and individuals (Walden, 2019). Remote working allows companies to hire talent regardless of their geographic location. The company developed a large workforce in India utilizing the benefits of remote working. This provided jobs for many workers in India. These jobs provide money that will go directly into the local economy in India.

Recommendations for Action

This research study focused on strategies used by leadership to implement a successful remote working program. The following may help leaders when implementing a remote working program. Leaders should dedicate training and development to the frontline managers to ensure they do not use a micromanagement approach to manage the remote staff. Leaders and managers should develop metrics that the remote workers will be measured to determine their production and quality. Leaders should develop a support system for the remote workers to utilize for help and guidance.

One of the drawbacks to the remote working program is a lack of engagement or feeling of isolation by the remote worker. To avoid this problem, leaders should encourage engagement by offering opportunities to connect with the remote workers on at least a weekly basis. Managers should be in contact with the remote workers daily to offer support and encouragement. This engagement will help improve the job satisfaction of the remote workers and will increase production and quality.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this single qualitative case study is to explore the leadership strategies that leaders use to implement an effective remote working program. The results of the study indicated that managers play a key role in the success of the remote working program. Future research is needed regarding the strategies that managers use to develop and maintain a successful remote working team who operates at a high level of efficiency, production, and quality.

The research study also revealed an issue regarding connectivity felt by both leaders and the remote workers. Engagement is the state of mind that work is fulfilling and positive, and the supervisor supports and monitors their personal work goals (Groen et al., 2018). Future research could be done to explore the strategies used to improve the engagement between leadership, management, and the remote working staff.

Reflections

I have worked remotely for 6 years prior to COVID. When I began my doctoral journey, I felt that more companies were considering a remote working program. What I did not plan for was a global pandemic that would force companies to develop a remote working program out of necessity rather than planning. What I later discovered was that companies that did not utilize the right strategies in their remote working programs ended up going back to the office sooner than others. Many companies have ended their remote working programs stating they failed. This study has shown that a successful remote working program can be accomplished and can provide a strategic advantage for hiring and retaining top talent. Also, there is a dramatic financial benefit by expanding the remote working program to areas like India where the costs are much lower.

Another discovery was the impact managers had on the success of the remote working program. Not every manager can manage a remote working staff. Leaders just assume that there is no difference, but it became clear during this study that bad managers, or managers that micromanage can have a negative impact on the success of the remote working program. This might be the reason that other companies failed in their attempts at remote working.

Conclusion

Business leaders face challenges when trying to implement a successful remote working program. The goal of this qualitative single-case research study was to use the OLT as a lens to identify strategies leaders use to implement a successful remote working program. The results of this study addressed the research found via the Literature Review, which identified there was a need for strategies needed to implement and manage a successful remote working program. Data were collected using open-ended questions with semi-structured interviews of three leaders of a financial services company. The data were analyzed using MAXQDA software to identify three themes. The themes were leadership strategies and styles, management of remote workers, and the benefits and drawbacks to remote working.

Leaders face challenges with remote working, particularly due to COVID that forced companies to adapt to working remotely. Workers were able to experience the benefits of working remotely and have expressed the desire to continue working in this manner. When employees are denied the opportunity to work remotely, they are more likely to leave the company within a year (Caillier, 2018). It creates an opportunity for companies to recruit top talent if they have a successful remote working program. The study confirms that effective leadership strategies can result in a successful remote working program, but there are still opportunities for further research.

References

- Ahmed Iqbal, Z., Abid, G., Arshad, M., Ashfaq, F., Athar, M. A., & Hassan, Q. (2021).

 Impact of authoritative and laissez-faire leadership on thriving at work: The moderating role of conscientiousness. *European journal of investigation in health, psychology and education*, 11(3), 667–685.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ejihpe11030048
- Akerlof, G. A. (1982). Labor contracts as a partial gift exchange. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 97(4), 543–569. https://doi.org/10.2307/1885099
- Alam. K. M. (2020). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection,

 NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 16(1), 1–31.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Alkassim, R. & Tran, X. (2015). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, *5*(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Anney, N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research: Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Engineering Trends in Educational Research* and Policy Studies, 5(2), 272–281.
- Armstrong, C. S., & Kepler, J. D. (2018). Theory, research design assumptions, and causal inferences. *Journal of Accounting & Economics*, 66(2–3), 366–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2018.08.012

- Bae, K. B., Lee, D., & Sohn, H. (2019). How to increase participation in telework programs in U.S. Federal Agencies: Examining the effects of being a female supervisor, supportive leadership, and diversity management. *Public Personnel Management*, 48(4), 565–583. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026019832920
- Bakkalbasioglu, E. (2020). How to access elites when textbook methods fail: Challenges of purposive sampling and advantages of using interviewees as "fixers." *Qualitative Report*, 25(3), 688–699.
- Baradello, C., & Dibble, R. (2020). Diverse and dispersed: Accessing the hidden benefits of your virtual team. *Organization Development Review*, 52(4), 69–71.
- Bass, B. M., & Riggio, R. E. (2006). *Transformational Leadership: Vol. 2nd ed.*Psychology Press.
- Bathini, D. R., & Kandathil, G. M. (2019). An orchestrated negotiated exchange: Trading home-based telework for intensified work. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 154(2), 411–423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3449-y
- Belzunegui-Eraso, A. & Erro-Garcés, A. (2020). Teleworking in the context of the Covid-19 crisis. *Sustainability*, *12*(3662), 3662.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/su12093662
- Bentley, T. A., Teo, S. T. T., McLeod, L., Tan, F., Bosua, R., & Gloet, M. (2016). The role of organisational support in teleworker wellbeing: A socio-technical systems approach. *Applied Ergonomics*, *52*, 207–215.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2015.07.019

- Bhattacharya, S., & Mittal, P. (2020). The impact of individual needs on employee performance while teleworking. *Australasian Accounting Business & Finance Journal*, 14(5), 65–85. https://doi.org/10.14453/aabfj.v14i5.5
- Bloom, N., Liang, J., Roberts, J., & Ying, Z. J. (2015). Does working from home work?

 Evidence from a Chinese experiment*. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 130(1),

 165–218. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qju032
- Brown, R. (2017). How telework is working in rural America. *Rural Telecom*, *36*(2), 18–22.
- Brunetta, F., Marchegiani, L., & Peruffo, E. (2020). When birds of a feather don't flock together: Diversity and innovation outcomes in international R&D collaborations. *Journal of Business Research*, 114, 436–445.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.08.033
- Caillier, J. G. (2018). Do flexible work schedules reduce turnover in U.S. federal agencies? *The Social Science Journal*, 55(2), 108–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2017.09.005
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619–628.
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(5), 545–547. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811–831.

- Charalampous, M., Grant, C. A., Tramontano, C., & Michailidis, E. (2018).

 Systematically reviewing remote e-workers' well-being at work: A multidimensional approach. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2018.1541886
- Chernyak-Hai, L., & Rabenu, E. (2018). The new era workplace relationships: Is social exchange theory still relevant? *Industrial and Organizational Psychology-*Perspectives on Science and Practice. 11(3), 456-481.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2018.5
- Chiru, C. (2017). Teleworking: Evolution and trends in USA, EU and Romania. *Economics, Management & Financial Markets*, 12(2), 222-229.
- Clark, K. R., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482CT–485CT.
- Collins, A. M., Hislop, D., & Cartwright, S. (2016). Social support in the workplace between teleworkers, office-based colleagues and supervisors. *New Technology*, *Work & Employment*, *31*(2), 161-175. https://doi.org/10.1111/ntwe.12065
- Contreras, F., Baykal, E., & Abid, G. (2020). E-Leadership and teleworking in times of COVID-19 and beyond: What we know and where do we go. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.590271
- Courtney, E. (2020). Remote work statistics: Navigating the new normal. Flexjobs.com. www.flexjobs.com/blog/post/remote-work-statistics/

- Delanoeije, J., & Verbruggen, M. (2020). Between-person and within-person effects of telework: A quasi-field experiment. *European Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology*, 29(6), 795–808. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2020.1774557
- Delanoeije, J., Verbruggen, M., & Germeys, L. (2019). Boundary role transitions: A day-to-day approach to explain the effects of home-based telework on work-to-home conflict and home-to-work conflict. *Human Relations*, 72(12), 1843–1868.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718823071
- De Menezes, L. M., & Kelliher, C. (2017). Flexible working, individual performance, and employee attitudes: Comparing Formal and Informal Arrangements. *Human Resource Management*, 56(6), 1051-1070. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21822
- Dowling, R., Lloyd, K., & Suchet-Pearson, S. (2016). Qualitative methods 1: Enriching the interview. *Progress in Human Geography*, 40(5), 679–686. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132515596880
- Drumea. C. (2020). Work-related stress and subsequent productivity in a teleworking environment induced by pandemic-related confinement. Evidence from the public organizations. *Ovidius University Annals: Economic Sciences Series*, *XX*(1), 337–341
- Duffy, J. & Puzzello, D. (2014). Gift exchange versus monetary exchange: Theory and evidence. *American Economic Review*, 104(6), 1735–1776.

 https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.104.6.1735

- Dufour, I. F., Richard, M.-C., & Li, J. (2019). Theorizing from secondary qualitative data: A comparison of two data analysis methods. *Cogent Education*, 6(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2019.1690265
- Dunn, E. (2018). Making it work remotely. *Entrepreneur*, 46(7), 20-21.
- Eddleston, K. A., & Mulki, J. (2017). Toward Understanding Remote Workers'

 Management of Work-Family Boundaries: The Complexity of Workplace

 Embeddedness. *Group & Organization Management*, 42(3), 346-387.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601115619548
- Eisenberg, J., & Mattarelli, E. (2017). Building bridges in global virtual teams: The role of multicultural brokers in overcoming the negative effects of identity threats on knowledge sharing across subgroups. *Journal of International Management*, 23(4), 399-411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2016.11.007
- ElBoghdady, D. (2006.). DISA fights turnover with telecommuting. Washington Post.
- Ellis, P. (2021). Sampling in qualitative research (3). Wounds UK, 17(1), 128–130.
- Ellis, T. J., & Levy, Y. (2009). Towards a Guide for Novice Researchers on Research

 Methodology: Review and Proposed Methods. *Issues in Informing Science & Information Technology*, 6, 323-337. https://doi.org/10.28945/1062
- Elshaiekh, N., Hassan, Y., & Abdallah, A. (2018). The impacts of remote working on workers performance. 2018 International Arab Conference on Information

 Technology (ACIT), Information Technology (ACIT), 2018 International Arab

 Conference On, 1. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACIT.2018.8672704

- Erez, M., Lisak, A., Harush, R., Glikson, E., Nouri, R., & Shokef. E. (2013). Going Global: Developing Management Students' Cultural Intelligence and Global Identity in Culturally Diverse Virtual Teams. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 12(3), 330–355. https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2012.0200
- Fang, T., & Messacar, D. (2019). Voluntary job separations and traditional versus flexible workplace savings plans: Evidence from Canada. *Canadian Public Policy*, 45(2), 239–261.
- Felstead, A., & Henseke, G. (2017). Assessing the growth of remote working and its consequences for effort, well-being and work-life balance. *New Technology, Work* & *Employment*, 32(3), 195-212. https://doi.org/10.1111/ntwe.12097
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, *10*(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Galardo, R., & Whitacre, B. (2018). 21st century economic development: Telework and its impact on local income. *Regional Science Policy and Practice*. https://doi.org/10.1111/rsp3.12117
- Gandolfi, F., & Stone, S. (2018). Leadership, leadership styles, and servant leadership. *Journal of Management Research* (09725814), 18(4), 261-269.
- George, K., Batterham, A., & Sullivan, I. (2003). Validity in clinical research: a review of basic concepts and definitions. *Physical Therapy in Sport*, *4*(3), 115–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1466-853X(03)00075-0

- Giovanis, E (2018). The relationship between flexible employment arrangements and workplace performance in Great Britain. *International Journal of Manpower*. 2018;39(1):51-70. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-04-2016-0083
- Golden, T. D., Veiga, J. F., & Dino, R. N. (2008). The impact of professional isolation on teleworker job performance and turnover intentions: Does time spent teleworking, interacting face-to-face, or having access to communication-enhancing technology matter? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *6*, 1412.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012722
- Golden, T. D., & Gajendran, R. S. (2019). Unpacking the role of a telecommuter's job in their performance: Examining job complexity, problem solving, interdependence, and social support. *Journal of Business & Psychology*, *34*(1), 55–69.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-01895304
- Graves, L. M., & Karabayeva, A. (2020). Managing virtual workers—Strategies for success. *IEEE Engineering Management Review, Engineering Management Review, IEEE, IEEE Eng. Manag. Rev*, 48(2), 166–172. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMR.2020.2990386
- Groen, B. A. C., van Triest, S. P., Coers, M., & Wtenweerde, N. (2018). Managing flexible work arrangements: Teleworking and output controls. *European Management Journal*, *36*(6), 727-735. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2018.01.007
- Gutenberg, A. W. (1964). A perspective on management control theory. *Academy of Management Proceedings* (0065-0668), 82–92. 10.5465/AMBPP.1964.5067828

- Hambly, H., & Lee, J. (2019). The rural telecommuter surplus in Southwestern Ontario, Canada. *Telecommunications Policy*, 43(3), 278–286.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2018.07.009
- Heins, V. M., Unrau, C., & Avram, K. (2018). Gift-giving and reciprocity in global society: Introducing Marcel Mauss in international studies. *Journal of International Political Theory*, 14(2), 126-144.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1755088218757807
- Heinz, K. (2014). Multicultural team conflict management. *Securitologia*, (1). https://doi.org/10.5604/18984509.1129727
- Hewege, C. (2012). A Critique of the mainstream management control theory and the way forward. *SAGE Open*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244012470114
- Hornickel, J. (2019). Retain employees and lower turnover costs: Less than 30 percent of U.S. employees say they are loyal to their company according to the Ipsos Loyalty Study. *Training*, 6, 14.
- Hunter, P. (2019). Remote working in research: An increasing usage of flexible work arrangements can improve productivity and creativity. *EMBO Reports*, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201847435
- Ioannidis, J. (2007). Limitations are not properly acknowledged in the scientific literature. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 60(4), 324-329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006.09.011

- Jensen, M., Potočnik, K., & Chaudhry, S. (2020). A mixed-methods study of CEO transformational leadership and firm performance. *European Management Journal*, 38(6), 836–845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2020.05.004
- Kaplan, S. Engelsted, L., Lei, X., & Lockwood, K. (2017). Unpackaging manager mistrust in allowing telework: Comparing and integrating theoretical perspectives. *Journal of Business & Psychology*, 33, 365-382. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-017-9498-5.
- Kahn, R. L. (1989). Nations as organizations: Organizational theory and international relations. *Journal of Social Issues*, 45(2), 181-194. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1989.tb01549.x
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The Complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

 The power of reflexivity. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies*, *13*(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31
- Kazekami, S. (2020). Mechanisms to improve labor productivity by performing telework. *Telecommunications Policy*, 44(2), N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2019.101868
- Kröll, C., & Nüesch, S. (2019). The effects of flexible work practices on employee attitudes: evidence from a large-scale panel study in Germany. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(9), 1505-1525. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1289548
- Kwon, M., & Jeon, S. H. (2020). Do leadership commitment and performance-oriented culture matter for federal teleworker satisfaction with telework programs? *Review*

- of Public Personnel Administration, 40(1), 36–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X18776049
- Latham, J. R. (2014). Leadership for quality and innovation: Challenges, theories, and a framework for future research. *Quality Management Journal*, 21(1), 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/10686967.2014.11918372
- Lee, D., & Kim, S. Y. (2018). A quasi-experimental examination of telework eligibility and participation in the U.S. federal government. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 38(4), 451–471. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X16680269
- Lee, Y., Chen, P., & Su, C. (2020). The evolution of the leadership theories and the analysis of new research trends. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 12(3), 88–104.
- Lembrechts, L., Zanoni, P., & Verbruggen, M. (2018.). The impact of team characteristics on the supervisor's attitude towards telework: a mixed-method study. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(21), 3118-3146. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1255984
- Levitt, S. R. (2013). Cultural factors affecting international teamwork dynamics and effectiveness. *The International Journal of Knowledge, Culture, and Change Management: Annual Review*, 13, 9–23.
- Liao, H., & Hitchcock, J. (2018). Reported credibility techniques in higher education evaluation studies that use qualitative methods: A research synthesis. *Evaluation & Program Planning*, 68, 157–165. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2018.03.005

- Markman, A. (2018). 3 Ways to identify cultural differences on a global team. *Harvard Review* (np).
- Marx, C., Reimann, M., & Diewald. M. (2021). Do work–life measures really matter?

 The impact of flexible working hours and home-based teleworking in preventing voluntary employee exits. *Social Sciences*, *10*(9), 9.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci10010009
- Masuda, A., Holtschlag, C., & Nicklin, J. (2017). Why the availability of telecommuting matters: The effects of telecommuting on engagement via goal pursuit. *Career Development International*, 22(2), 200-219. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-05-2016-0064
- Mathews, M. (2017). Gift giving, reciprocity and the creation of trust. *Journal of Trust Research*, 7(1), 90–106.
- Miracle, V. A. (2016). The Belmont Report: The Triple Crown of Research

 Ethics. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 35(4), 223–228.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.000000000000000186
- Moldovan, A., & Van de Walle, S. (2013). Gifts or bribes? *Public Integrity*, *15*(4), 385–402. https://doi.org/10.2753/PIN1099-9922150404
- Morgan, L., Paucar-Caceres, A., & Wright, G. (2014). Leading Effective Global Virtual Teams: The Consequences of Methods of Communication. *Systemic Practice & Action Research*, 27, 607–624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11213-014-9315-2

- Muldoon, J., Liguori, E., Bendickson, J., & Bauman A. (2018). Revisiting perspectives on George Homans: Correcting misconceptions. *Journal of Management History*, 24(1), 57-75. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMH-06-2017-002
- Nakrošienė, A., Bučiūnienė, I., & Goštautaitė, B. (2019). Working from home:

 Characteristics and outcomes of telework. *International Journal of Manpower*, 40(1), 87–101. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-07-2017-0172
- Nanjundeswaraswamy, T S & Divakar, S. (2021). Determination of Sample Size and Sampling Methods in Applied Research. *Proceedings on Engineering Sciences*, 3(1), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.24874/PES03.01.003
- Narayanan, L., Menon, S., Plaisent, M., & Bernard, P. (2017). Telecommuting: The work anywhere, anyplace, anytime organization in the 21st century. *Journal of Marketing & Management*, 8(2), 47-54.
- Palumbo, R. (2020). Let me go to the office! An investigation into the side effects of working from home on work-life balance. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*, 33(6/7), 771–790. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPSM-06-2020-0150
- Pan, P. (2020). Ethics in research and publication. *Journal of Indian Association of Pediatric Surgeons*, 25(6), 349–351. https://doi.org/10.4103/jiaps.JIAPS_219_19
- Parmenter, D. (2010). Key performance indicators (kpi): Developing, implementing, and using winning kpis. ProQuest Ebook Central
- Pinnegar, E., & Quiles-Fernández, E. (2018). A self-study of researcher relationships with research participants. *Studying Teacher Education*, *14*(3), 284–295.

- du Plessis, Y. (2012). Exploring teamwork paradoxes challenging 21st-century crosscultural conflict management in a multicultural organizational context. *International Journal of Cross Cultural Management*, *12*(1), 49. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470595811413108
- Purevsuren, N., Dashdorj, Z., Khujuu, T., & Norinpel, E. (2020). Selection and optimization model of key performance indicators. 2020 22nd International Conference on Advanced Communication Technology (ICACT), Advanced Communication Technology (ICACT), 2020 22nd International Conference On, 190–196. https://doi.org/10.23919/ICACT48636.2020.9061560
- Radu, S. (2018). How soon will you be working from home? U.S. News The Report, 28.
- Riege, A. M. (2003). Validity and reliability tests in case study research: A literature review with "hands-on" applications for each research phase. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 6(2), 75–86.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/13522750310470055
- Ruiller, C., Van Der Heijden, B., Chedotel, F., & Dumas, M. (2019). "You have got a friend": The value of perceived proximity for teleworking success in dispersed teams. *Team Performance Management: An International Journal*, (1/2), 2. https://doi.org/10.1108/TPM-11-2017-0069
- Schwantes, M. (2019). A new study reveals why working from home makes employees more productive. Inc.com. www.inc.com/marcel-schwantes/new-study-reveals-why-working-from-home-makes-workers-more-productive.html.

- Slevin, E., & Sines, D. (1999). Enhancing the truthfulness, consistency and transferability of a qualitative study: Utilising a manifold of approaches. *Nurse Researcher*, 7(2), 79–97.
- Smith, S. A., Patmos, A., & Pitts, M. J. (2018). Communication and teleworking: A study of communication channel satisfaction, personality, and job satisfaction for teleworking employees. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *55*(1), 44-68. https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488415589101
- Sogancilar, N., Ors, H. (2018). Understanding the challenges of multicultural team management. *Journal of Business, Economics and Finance (JBEF)*, V.7(3), p.259-268 https://doi.org/10.17261/Pressacademia.2018.954
- Sukoco, I., Evitha, Y., Hermanto, B., & Herawati. T. (2020). Optimizing human resources empowerment in the era of Covid 19: From transactional to transformational leadership. *Technium Social Sciences Journal*, *13*(1).
- Tabassi, A., Abdullah, A., & Bryde, D. (2019). Conflict Management, Team

 Coordination, and Performance Within Multicultural Temporary Projects:

 Evidence from the Construction Industry. *Project Management Journal*, *50*(1), 101–114. https://doi.org/10.1177/8756972818818257
- Tanzi, A. (2020). Half the labor force in major U.S. cities is working from home. *Bloomberg.Com*, N.PAG.
- Torten, R., Reaiche, C., & Caraballo, E. L. (2016). Teleworking in the new millennium. *Journal of Developing Areas*, 50(5), 319-326. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2016.0060

- Urick, M. (2020). Generational differences and COVID-19: Positive interactions in virtual workplaces. *Journal of Intergenerational Relationships*, *18*(4), 379–398. https://doi.org/10.1080/15350770.2020.1818662
- Walden University (2020). Social change. Walden University Website. Retrieved from https://catalog.waldenu.edu/content.php?catoid=117&navoid=32335
- Walker, D. (2018). Failing to connect: Studies of remote working in accounting firms show the profession is still struggling to make telework work. Firm leaders need to step up. *Acuity*, *5*(5), 56-59.
- Wang, W., Albert, L., & Sun, Q. (2020). Employee isolation and telecommuter organizational commitment. *Employee Relations: The International Journal*, 42(3), 609–625. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-06-2019-0246
- Wheatley, D. (2017). Employee satisfaction and use of flexible working arrangements. *Work, Employment and Society*, *31*(4), 567-585. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017016631447
- Windeler, J., Maruping, L, Robert, L., & Riemenschneider, C. (2015). E-profiles, conflict, and shared understanding in distributed teams. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 16(7), 608–645.
- Wong, M. (2020). Stanford research provides a snapshot of a new work-from-home economy. Stanford News. news.stanford.edu/2020/06/29/snapshot-new-working-home-economy/

- Yeong, M.L. Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700–2713.
- Yin, R. K. (2011). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). New York, NY:

 The Guilford Press
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Washington, DC: Sage.
- Zakaria N, Amelinckx A, & Wilemon, D. (2004) Working together apart? Building a knowledge-sharing culture for global virtual teams. Creativity and Innovation Management 13:15–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8691.2004.00290.x

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

- Contact target leaders via email addresses found on company websites and trade websites.
- 2. Send an email with the informed consent as the invitation to join the research study.
- 3. Once the informed consent form is received, schedule a one-on-one interview via their preferred method of contact: Phone, Zoom, Teams, or other video or teleconferencing application.
- 4. Prior to the start of the interview, share the questions with the participant.
- 5. Start the interview by starting the recording and ensuring to cover the confidentiality and approval to record the interview.
- 6. Ask all of the interview questions and follow-up questions.
- 7. Thank the participants for their time and participation in the research study and let them know I will send them follow-up emails with the data and analysis to ensure accuracy in their responses.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. What is your current role or title?
- 2. What specific leadership strategies do you use to implement an effective remote working program?
- 3. What leadership strategies do you feel have the greatest impact on improving the remote working program?
- 4. What leadership style works best with strategies to improve the remote working program?
- 5. Have the leadership strategies improved the overall performance of the remote workers? Please explain your answer.
- 6. What would you consider to be the least effective leadership strategies to improve the effectiveness of a remote working program?
- 7. What leadership strategies did you use regarding front line managers of the remote workers?
- 8. What results have you seen after implementing the remote working program?
- 9. What impact, if any, did the pandemic have on your strategies with the remote working program?
- 10. What other information do you wish to share that was not asked in this interview session?